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Item 8.01.                                      Other Events.

On June 1, 2015, EMCORE Corporation (the “Company”) announced today the appointments of David Wojciechowski
as Vice President of Sales and Shane Mortazavi as Vice President of Operations. Mr. Wojciechowski and Mr.
Mortazavi will report to EMCORE’s President and Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey Rittichier. Mr. Wojciechowski is
scheduled to begin his employment on June 15 and Mr. Mortazavi is scheduled to begin his employment on June 1.

Item 9.01     Financial Statements and Exhibits.
(d) Exhibits

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description

99.1 Press Release, dated June 1, 2015, issued by EMCORE Corporation.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

EMCORE CORPORATION

 Dated: June 1, 2015
By: /s/ Mark B. Weinswig

Name: Mark B. Weinswig
Title: Chief Financial Officer

" valign="bottom">   �     $ �  
November 1, 2008 through November 30, 2008
    2,920 (3)     7.69 (3)     �       �  
December 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008
    � (4)     � (4)     �       �                                    
Total
    9,720               �                                            

(1) Shares purchased by the SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan were open market purchases. For more
information on the SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan see the Registration Statement on Form S-8
(No. 333-103661) filed on March 7, 2003.

(2) The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan sold no shares of Saia stock on the open market during the
period of October 1, 2008 through October 31, 2008.

(3) The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan sold 4,690 shares of Saia stock on the open market at $9.31
during the period of November 1, 2008 through November 30, 2008.
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(4) The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan sold 940 shares of Saia stock on the open market at $10.26
during the period of December 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table shows summary consolidated historical financial data of Saia and has been derived from, and
should be read together with, the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and in conjunction with
�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�. The summary financial
information may not be indicative of the future performance of Saia.

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

(In thousands except per share data and percentages)

Statement of operations:
Operating revenue � continuing
operations $ 1,030,421 $ 976,123 $ 874,738 $ 754,038 $ 645,374
Operating income (loss) �
continuing operations(1) (9,851) 38,168 49,994 50,436 30,342
Income (loss) from continuing
operations (19,689) 17,085 25,873 25,158 13,222
Net income (loss) (20,727) 18,342 (20,681) 27,459 19,259
Diluted earnings (loss) per share �
continuing operations (1.48) 1.22 1.74 1.67 0.86
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (1.56) 1.31 (1.39) 1.82 1.26
Other financial data:
Net cash provided by operating
activities 82,339 46,271 76,137 83,903 55,239
Net cash used in investing
activities(2) (26,005) (91,429) (72,298) (53,701) (79,992)
Depreciation and amortization 40,898 38,685 32,550 28,849 27,898
Balance sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents 27,061 6,656 10,669 16,865 7,499
Net property and equipment 355,802 368,772 314,832 246,634 223,625
Total assets 515,752 560,583 487,400 554,741 509,548
Total debt 136,399 172,845 109,984 114,913 122,810
Total shareholders� equity 183,572 200,652 203,155 228,392 212,542
Measurements:
Operating ratio(3) 101.0% 96.1% 94.3% 93.3% 95.3%

(1) Operating expenses in 2008 includes a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $35.5 million and in 2007
includes integration charges of $2.4 million relating to the integration of the Connection and Madison Freight
into Saia. Operating expenses in 2006 include restructuring charges of $2.6 million relating to the consolidation
and relocation of the corporate headquarters to Johns Creek, GA and integration charges of $1.5 million relating
to the integration of the Connection into Saia. Operating income in 2005 includes a $7.0 million gain from sale of
excess real estate. Operating expenses in 2004 include integration charges of $2.1 million relating to the
integration of Clark Bros. into Saia.

(2) Net cash used in investing activities in 2007 includes $2.3 million for the acquisition of Madison Freight. Net
cash used in investing activities in 2006 include $17.5 million for the acquisition of the Connection and proceeds
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from the sale of Jevic of $41.3 million. Net cash used in investing activities in 2004 include $23.5 million for the
acquisition of Clark Bros.

(3) The operating ratio is the calculation of operating expenses divided by operating revenue.
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Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,� contains statements which are �forward-looking� within the meaning of within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 with respect to the
financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business of Saia. Words such as
�anticipate,� �estimate,� �expect,� �project,� �intend,� �may,� �plan,� �predict,� �believe,� �should� and similar words or expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. We use such forward-looking statements regarding our future
financial condition and results of operations and our business operations in this Form 10-K. Investors should not place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements, and the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise
any forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements reflect the present expectation of future events of our
management and are subject to a number of important factors, risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those described in any forward-looking statements. These factors and risks
include, but are not limited to, general economic conditions including downturns in the business cycle; the
creditworthiness of our customers and their ability to pay for services; competitive initiatives and pricing pressures,
including in connection with fuel surcharge; the Company�s need for capital and uncertainty of the current credit
markets; the possibility of defaults under the Company�s debt agreements (including violation of financial covenants);
integration risks; indemnification obligations associated with the 2006 sale of Jevic Transportation, Inc.; the effect of
on going litigation including class action lawsuits; cost and availability of qualified drivers, fuel, purchased
transportation, property, revenue equipment and other operating assets; governmental regulations, including but not
limited to Hours of Service, engine emissions, compliance with legislation requiring companies to evaluate their
internal control over financial reporting, changes in interpretation of accounting principles and Homeland Security;
dependence on key employees; inclement weather; labor relations, including the adverse impact should a portion of
the Company�s workforce become unionized; effectiveness of company-specific performance improvement initiatives;
terrorism risks; self-insurance claims, equity-based compensation and other expense volatility; and other financial,
operational and legal risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in the Company�s SEC filings. These factors
and risks are described in Item 1A: Risk Factors of this Form 10-K.

As a result of these and other factors, no assurance can be given as to our future results and achievements.
Accordingly, a forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor a guarantee of future events or circumstances,
and those future events or circumstances may not occur. You should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. We are under no obligation, and we expressly disclaim
any obligation, to update or alter any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise.

Executive Overview

The Company�s business is highly correlated to the general economy and, in particular, industrial production. The
Company�s priorities are focused on increasing volume within existing geographies while managing both the mix and
yield of business to achieve increased profitability. The Company�s business is labor intensive, capital intensive and
service sensitive. The Company looks for opportunities to improve cost effectiveness, safety and asset utilization
(primarily tractors and trailers). The extremely challenging macro-economic environment and illiquidity in the overall
credit markets have caused the Company to focus on initiatives to align costs with significantly decreased volumes. In
2008, these initiatives included a reduction in force, reductions in discretionary spending and process improvements to
minimize costs. Technology is important to supporting both customer service and operating management. The
Company grew operating revenue by 5.6 percent in 2008 over 2007. Revenue growth was attributable to improvement
in yield (revenue per hundred weight) through the impact of higher fuel surcharges and increased length of haul.
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Consolidated operating loss from continuing operations was $9.9 million for 2008 compared to income of
$38.2 million in 2007. The operating loss from 2008 includes a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of
$35.5 million. Excluding this goodwill impairment charge, operating income would have been $25.7 million.
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The 2007 results include $2.4 million of pre-tax integration charges due to the acquisition of the Connection in
November 2006 and Madison Freight in February 2007. The 2008 operating income decrease resulted primarily from
the weak economic environment, increasingly competitive pricing environment and higher costs. The Company saw
volume declines accelerate as we went through 2008, especially in the fourth quarter when LTL tonnage was down
4.7% versus 2007. The resulting overcapacity in the industry has also led to a much more challenging pricing
environment in late 2008 and as we move into 2009. Diluted loss per share from continuing operations was $1.48 per
share, a decrease from diluted earnings from continuing operations of $1.22 in the prior year. Excluding the goodwill
impairment charge, 2008 would have had diluted earnings per share of $0.71. The operating ratio (operating expenses
divided by operating revenue) was 101.0 percent in 2008 compared to 96.1 percent in 2007. Excluding the goodwill
impairment charge, the operating ratio was 97.5 percent in 2008.

The Company generated $71.3 million in cash from operating activities of continuing operations in 2008 versus
generating $46.3 million in the prior-year period. Cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations were
$11.1 for 2008 versus zero for 2007. The Company had net cash used in investing activities from continuing
operations of $26.0 million during 2008 for the purchase of property and equipment. Cash used in financing activities
during 2008 included $61.5 million in principal payments on long-term debt offset by proceeds from long-term
borrowing of $25.0 million and proceeds from stock option exercises of $0.6 million. The Company had no
borrowings on its credit agreement and cash and cash equivalents of $27.1 million as of December 31, 2008. Due to
macro-economic conditions, the Company is closely monitoring compliance with its debt covenants and will evaluate
financing alternatives should that become necessary.

General

The following management�s discussion and analysis describes the principal factors affecting the results of operations,
liquidity and capital resources, as well as the critical accounting policies, of Saia, Inc., (�Saia� or the �Company�). This
discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements which
include additional information about our significant accounting policies, practices and the transactions that underlie
our financial results.

The Company is a an asset-based transportation company providing regional and interregional LTL services, selected
national LTL, guaranteed and expedited service solutions to a broad base of customers across 34 states. Our operating
subsidiary is Saia Motor Freight Line, LLC (Saia Motor Freight), based in Johns Creek, Georgia. The Company
integrated the operations of the Connection into Saia Motor Freight in February 2007. The Company integrated the
operations of Madison Freight into Saia Motor Freight in March 2007.

Our business is highly correlated to the general economy and, in particular, industrial production. It also is impacted
by a number of other factors as detailed in the �Forward-Looking Statements� and �Risk Factors� sections of this
Form 10-K. The key factors that affect our operating results are the volumes of shipments transported through our
network as measured by our average daily shipments and tonnage; the prices we obtain for our services as measured
by revenue per hundredweight (a measure of yield) and revenue per shipment; our ability to manage our cost structure
for capital expenditures and operating expenses such as salaries, wages and benefits; purchased transportation; claims
and insurance expense; fuel and maintenance; and our ability to match operating costs to shifting volume levels. Fuel
surcharges have remained in effect for several years and are a significant component of revenue and pricing. Fuel
surcharges are a more integral part of annual customer contract renewals, blurring the distinction between base price
increases and recoveries under the fuel surcharge program.
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Results of Operations

Saia, Inc.
Selected Results of Continuing Operations and Operating Statistics

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Percent Variance
2008 2007 2006 �08 v. �07 �07 v. �06
(In thousands, except ratios and revenue per hundredweight)

Operating Revenue $ 1,030,421 $ 976,123 $ 874,738 5.6% 11.6%
Operating Expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees� benefits 537,857 524,599 473,956 2.5 10.7
Purchased transportation 78,462 76,123 70,029 3.1 8.7
Depreciation and amortization 40,898 38,685 32,550 5.7 18.8
Other operating expenses 347,544 298,548 248,209 16.4 20.3
Goodwill impairment charge 35,511 � � n/a �
Operating Income (Loss) (9,851) 38,168 49,994 (125.8) (23.7)
Operating Ratio 101.0% 96.1% 94.3% 5.1 1.9
Nonoperating Expenses 12,860 9,777 8,021 31.5 21.9
Working Capital 9,153 25,084 7,043 (63.5) 256.2
Operating Cash Flow from Continuing
Operations 71,286 46,271 55,643 54.1 (16.8)
Net Acquisitions of Property &
Equipment 26,005 89,085 90,748 (70.8) (1.8)
Saia Motor Freight Operating Statistics:
LTL Tonnage 3,695 3,794 3,460 (2.6) 9.7
Total Tonnage 4,438 4,527 4,150 (2.0) 9.1
LTL Shipments 6,710 6,888 6,177 (2.6) 11.5
Total Shipments 6,810 6,988 6,272 (2.5) 11.4
LTL Revenue Per Hundredweight $ 12.95 $ 12.00 $ 11.73 7.9 2.3
Total Revenue Per Hundredweight $ 11.61 $ 10.79 $ 10.54 7.6 2.4

Continuing Operations

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. year ended December 31, 2007

Revenue and volume

Consolidated revenue increased 5.6 percent to $1.0 billion as a result of higher yields including the impact of
increased fuel surcharges and increased length of haul partially offset by decreased tonnage on a per day basis
primarily as a result of the difficult economic environment. Revenue was negatively impacted by a weak economy and
competitive pricing environment. Due to overcapacity in the industry, the pricing environment has become even more
challenging, particularly in the latter half of 2008. Fuel prices led to a significant increase in fuel expenses in 2008 as
compared to 2007. The cost per gallon increases were offset by the fuel surcharge. We have also experienced cost
increases in other operating costs as a result of increased fuel prices. However, the total impact of higher energy prices
on other non-fuel related expenses is difficult to determine.
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Saia�s LTL revenue per hundredweight (a measure of yield) increased 7.9 percent to $12.95 per hundredweight for
2008 including the impact of fuel surcharges. Saia�s LTL tonnage was down 2.6 percent to 3.7 million tons and LTL
shipments were down 2.6 percent to 6.7 million shipments. Approximately 70 percent of Saia Motor Freight�s revenue
is subject to individual customer price adjustment negotiations that occur throughout the year. The remaining
30 percent of revenue is subject to an annual general rate increase. On February 18, 2008, Saia Motor Freight
implemented a 5.4 percent general rate increase for customers comprising this 30 percent of revenue.
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Competitive factors, customer turnover and mix changes, among other things, impact the extent to which customer
rate increases are retained over time.

Operating expenses and margin

Consolidated operating loss of $9.9 million in 2008 compared to operating income of $38.2 million in 2007. The 2008
operating loss includes a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $35.5 million. The goodwill impairment charge is a
one-time, non-cash charge resulting from a significant sustained decline in the Company�s market capitalization. The
charge does not affect the Company�s tangible book value or the Company�s ability to operate and serve its customers.
The 2007 results include $2.4 million of pre-tax integration charges from the acquisition of the Connection in
November 2006 and Madison Freight in February 2007. The 2008 operating ratio (operating expenses divided by
operating revenue) was 101.0, or 97.5 excluding the effect of the goodwill impairment charge, compared to 96.1 for
2007. Higher fuel prices, in conjunction with volume changes, caused $45.9 million of the increase in fuel, operating
expenses and supplies. This is reflective of the diesel fuel price trends throughout the year, particularly the rising
prices through the first three quarters, followed by a rapid decline in the fourth quarter. Increased revenues from the
fuel surcharge program offset fuel price increases. Year-over-year price increases were more than offset by volume
declines along with cost increases in wages, health care, depreciation and maintenance. The Company implemented a
reduction-in-force during the fourth quarter of 2008 to bring the Company�s workforce in line with business levels and
a reduced outlook. During the current year, accident expense was $6.2 million lower than prior year due to decreased
severity and frequency. The Company experiences volatility in accident expense as a result of its self-insurance
structure and $2.0 million retention limits per occurrence. The annual wage rate increase for 2008 and 2007 averaged
1.0 percent and 2.5 percent, respectively, effective in December of each year. While the net effect of equity-based
compensation stock price performance was zero in 2008, the Company recorded a pre-tax benefit of $3.0 million
during 2007. Equity-based compensation expense includes the expense for the cash-based awards under the
Company�s long-term incentive plans, which is a function of the Company�s stock price performance versus a peer
group, and the deferred compensation plan�s expense, which was tied to changes in the Company�s stock price.
However, a plan amendment in November 2008 changed the accounting for the deferred compensation plan and
results in equity plan accounting for the plan going forward.

Other

Substantially, all the Company�s non-operating expenses represent interest expense. Interest costs were $12.4 million
in 2008 versus $10.1 million in 2007, reflecting the increase in average outstanding indebtedness in 2008. The
Company�s capital structure consists predominantly of longer-term, fixed rate instruments. The consolidated effective
tax rate was 13.3 percent in 2008 compared to 39.8 percent in 2007. The 2008 effective tax rate included
approximately $1.8 million of non-recurring tax credits and a $6.1 million benefit as a result of the non-cash goodwill
impairment charge. The notes to the consolidated financial statements provide an analysis of the income tax provision
and the effective tax rate.

Working capital/capital expenditures

Working capital at December 31, 2008 was $9.2 million, which decreased from working capital at December 31, 2007
of $25.1 million due to lower accounts receivable and higher current debt as a result of the obligation to redeem the
subordinated debentures. Cash flows from operating activities were $82.3 million for 2008 versus cash flows from
operations of $46.3 million for 2007. Cash flows from operating activities in 2008 and 2007 included $11.1 million
and zero from discontinued operations, respectively. For 2008, cash used in investing activities was $26.0 million
versus $91.4 million in the prior year due to a significant decrease in the Company�s capital expenditures as a result of
the current economic environment. Cash used in financing activities was $35.9 million in 2008 versus cash from
financing activities of $41.1 million for the prior year. Current year financing activities included $25.0 million in
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proceeds from new senior notes more than offset by $61.5 million for payments on outstanding debt.
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Year ended December 31, 2007 vs. year ended December 31, 2006

Revenue and volume

Consolidated revenue increased 11.6 percent to $976.1 million in 2007 as a result of the acquisitions of the
Connection and Madison Freight which led to increased volumes as both shipments and LTL tonnage were up over
the prior year. We believe volume gains were primarily attributable to the acquisitions and market share gains into and
out of Saia�s newer Midwest markets. While fuel costs increased during 2007, higher fuel surcharge revenues offset
higher diesel fuel costs. We have experienced increases in other operating costs as a result of increased fuel prices.
However, the total impact of higher energy prices on other non-fuel related expenses is difficult to determine.

Saia�s LTL revenue per hundredweight (a measure of yield) increased 2.3 percent to $12.00 per hundredweight for
2007 including the impact of fuel surcharges. Saia�s LTL tonnage was up 9.7 percent to 3.8 million tons and LTL
shipments were up 11.5 percent to 6.9 million shipments. Approximately 70 percent of Saia Motor Freight�s revenue is
subject to individual customer price adjustment negotiations that occur throughout the year. The remaining 30 percent
of revenue is subject to an annual general rate increase. On April 2, 2007, Saia Motor Freight implemented a
4.95 percent general rate increase for customers comprising this 30 percent of revenue. Competitive factors, customer
turnover and mix changes, among other things, impact the extent to which customer rate increases are retained over
time.

Operating expenses and margin

Consolidated operating income of $38.2 million in 2007 compared to $50.0 million in 2006. The 2007 results include
$2.4 million of pre-tax integration charges from the acquisition of the Connection in November 2006 and Madison
Freight in February 2007. The 2006 results include $1.5 million of pre-tax integration charges from the acquisition of
the Connection in November 2006. In addition, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge in 2006 of $2.6 million related
to the consolidation and relocation of the Company�s corporate headquarters to Johns Creek, Georgia. These
restructuring charges are largely for severance benefits and stay incentives through the transition period. The 2007
operating ratio (operating expenses divided by operating revenue) was 96.1 compared to 94.3 for 2006. However,
excluding the integration charges from 2007 and the restructuring and integration charges from 2006, the comparative
operating ratios would have been 95.8 in 2007 versus 93.8 in 2006. Higher fuel prices, in conjunction with volume
changes, caused $19.9 million of the increase in fuel, operating expenses and supplies. Year-over-year price and
volume increases were more than offset by cost increases in wages, health care, accident expense, depreciation and
maintenance. Increased revenues from the fuel surcharge program offset fuel price increases. Purchased transportation
expenses increased 8.7 percent reflecting both increased utilization driven by volume increases and the opening of
lanes to and from the acquired territories. During 2007, accident expense was $8.3 million higher than prior year due
to increased severity, although frequency has improved. The Company experiences volatility in accident expense as a
result of its self-insurance structure and $2.0 million retention limits per occurrence. Saia�s annual wage rate increases
averaged 2.7 percent and were effective August 1, 2006. The annual wage rate increase for 2007 averaged 2.5 percent;
however, the Company delayed the increase from August until December. The Company recorded a pre-tax benefit of
$3.0 million and a pre-tax charge of $3.0 million for equity-based compensation as a result of the stock price
performance during 2007 and 2006, respectively. Equity-based compensation expense includes the expense for the
cash-based awards under the Company�s long-term incentive plans, which is a function of the Company�s stock price
performance versus a peer group and the deferred compensation plan�s expense which is tied to changes in the
Company�s stock price.

Other
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Substantially all the Company�s non-operating expenses represent interest expense. Interest costs were $10.1 million in
2007 versus $9.3 million in 2006, reflecting the increase in average outstanding indebtedness in 2007. The Company�s
capital structure consists predominantly of longer-term, fixed rate instruments. The consolidated effective tax rate was
39.8 percent in 2007 compared to 38.4 percent in 2006. The 2006 effective tax rate included approximately
$0.7 million of non-recurring tax credits. The notes to the consolidated financial statements provide an analysis of the
income tax provision and the effective tax rate.
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Working capital/capital expenditures

Working capital at December 31, 2007 was $25.1 million, which increased from working capital at December 31,
2006 of $7.0 million due to higher accounts receivable and lower accrued payroll. Cash flows from operating
activities were $46.3 million for 2007 versus cash flows from operations of $76.1 million for 2006. Cash flows from
operating activities in 2007 and 2006 included zero and $20.5 million from discontinued operations, respectively. For
2007, cash used in investing activities was $91.4 million versus $72.3 million in the prior year, which included the
proceeds from the sale of Jevic at June 30, 2006. The 2007 acquisition of property and equipment includes
investments in real estate for terminals, purchase of growth and replacement units of revenue equipment, and
investment in technology and software. Cash from financing activities was $41.1 million in 2007 versus cash used in
financing activities of $10.0 million for the prior year. In 2007, financing activities included $48.7 million net
borrowings on the revolving credit facility and $25.0 million in proceeds from new senior notes partially offset by
$23.2 million for share repurchases.

Discontinued Operations

On June 30, 2006, the Company completed the sale of all of the outstanding stock of Jevic Transportation, Inc.
(Jevic), its hybrid less-than-truckload and truckload trucking carrier business to a private investment firm in a cash
transaction of $42.2 million less a working capital adjustment of $0.9 million. The Company and Jevic finalized the
working capital adjustment and in accordance with the agreement the Company received $0.1 million during the
fourth quarter of 2006. Transaction fees and expenses totaled approximately $1.3 million. In addition, the transaction
was structured as an asset sale for tax purposes under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code that resulted in an estimated
$11.2 million income tax benefit from the transaction. The Company utilized the tax benefit from the transaction in
the third and fourth quarter of 2006. The accompanying consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods
presented have been adjusted to classify Jevic operations as discontinued operations. The Company recorded a
non-cash after-tax charge on the sale of Jevic Transportation of $43.8 million, net of income tax benefits or $2.94 per
share in 2006. The Company also recorded loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2006
of $2.8 million. In 2007, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $1.3 million as a result of filing all of the state income
tax returns for 2006 allowing the Company to finalize the amount of tax benefit associated with the loss on the sale of
Jevic. In 2008, the Company recorded a $1.0 million charge, net of tax, as a result of a settlement agreement related to
the bankruptcy of Jevic as described further below under contractual cash obligations.

Outlook

Our business remains highly correlated to the success of Company specific improvement initiatives as well as a
variety of external factors including the general economy. Given the significantly decreased volumes and increasingly
competitive pricing trends in 2008 and early 2009 there remains considerable uncertainty as to the direction of the
economy for 2009, including the timing of any economic recovery. For 2009, we are evaluating further initiatives to
reduce costs in line with declining volumes. Additionally, we are closely monitoring financing alternatives for capital
and other needs if required. We also plan to continue to focus on providing top quality service and improving safety
performance while building density within our existing geography.

The Company plans to continue to pursue revenue and cost initiatives to improve profitability. Planned revenue
initiatives include, but are not limited to, building density and improving performance in our current geography,
targeted marketing initiatives to grow revenue in more profitable segments, as well as pricing and yield management.
The extent of success of these revenue initiatives is impacted by what proves to be the underlying economic trends,
competitor initiatives and other factors discussed under �Risk Factors.�
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Planned cost management initiatives include, but are not limited to, seeking gains in productivity and asset utilization
that collectively are designed to offset anticipated inflationary unit cost increases in salaries and wage rates,
healthcare, workers� compensation, fuel and all the other expense categories. Specific cost initiatives include
reductions in force in the fourth quarter 2008 to bring the Company�s salaries and wages in line with current business
levels, linehaul routing optimization, reduction in costs of purchased transportation, expansion of wireless dock
technology and an enhanced weight and inspection process. If the Company builds market share, there are
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numerous operating leverage cost benefits. Conversely, should the economy soften from present levels, the Company
plans to attempt to match resources and capacity to shifting volume levels to lessen unfavorable operating leverage.
The success of cost improvement initiatives is also impacted by the cost and availability of drivers and purchased
transportation, fuel, insurance claims, regulatory changes, successful implementation of profit improvement initiatives
and other factors discussed under �Risk Factors.�

See �Risk Factors� and �Forward-Looking Statements� for a more complete discussion of potential risks and uncertainties
that could materially affect our future performance or financial condition.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion of recent accounting
pronouncements.

Financial Condition

The Company�s liquidity needs arise primarily from capital investment in new equipment, land and structures and
information technology, letters of credit required under insurance programs, as well as funding working capital
requirements.

On September 20, 2002, the Company issued $100 million in Senior Notes under a $125 million (amended to
$150 million in April 2005) Master Shelf Agreement with Prudential Investment Management, Inc. and certain of its
affiliates. The Company issued another $25 million in Senior Notes on November 30, 2007 and $25 million in Senior
Notes on January 31, 2008 under the same Master Shelf Agreement. At December 31, 2008, a total of $125 million is
outstanding under this Master Shelf Agreement.

The initial $100 million Senior Notes are unsecured and have a fixed interest rate of 7.38 percent. Payments due under
the $100 million Senior Notes were interest only until June 30, 2006 and at that time semi-annual principal payments
began with the final payment due December 2013. The November 2007 issuance of $25 million Senior Notes are
unsecured and have a fixed interest rate of 6.14 percent. The January 2008 issuance of $25 million Senior Notes are
unsecured and have a fixed interest rate of 6.17 percent. Payments due for both recent $25 million issuances will be
interest only until June 30, 2011 and at that time semi-annual principal payments will begin with the final payments
due January 1, 2018. Under the terms of the Senior Notes, the Company must maintain certain financial covenants
including a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent
(EBITDAR), an adjusted leverage ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a minimum tangible net worth,
among others. At December 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with these financial covenants.

At December 31, 2007, the Company also had a $110 million Agented Revolving Credit Agreement (the Credit
Agreement) with Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent. The Credit Agreement was unsecured with an interest rate based
on LIBOR or prime at the Company�s option, plus an applicable spread, in certain instances, and had a maturity date of
January 2009. On January 28, 2008, the Company amended and restated the Credit Agreement, increasing it to
$160 million, extending the maturity to January 28, 2013 and adjusting the interest rate schedule. In addition, the
financial covenants were revised to a fixed charge coverage ratio, leverage ratio and adjusted leverage ratio, removing
the minimum tangible net worth test. At December 31, 2008, the Company had no borrowings under the Credit
Agreement and $54.0 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2007, the
Company had $48.7 million of borrowings under the Credit Agreement at an interest rate of 7.25% and $49.2 million
in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement. The available portion of the Credit Agreement may be
used for future capital expenditures, working capital and letter of credit requirements as needed. At December 31,
2008, the Company was in compliance with these financial covenants.
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On January 13, 2009, the Company submitted an authorization of redemption to the Bank of New York to redeem the
outstanding issues of 7% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2011 on February 27, 2009. The Bank of New
York has processed the request and the final payment will be due for all outstanding principal and accrued interest. As
a result of this redemption, the liability for the subordinated debentures of $11.5 million has been entirely reclassified
to current portion of long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008.
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At December 31, 2008, Yellow Corporation, now known as YRC Worldwide (Yellow), provided guarantees on behalf
of Saia primarily for open workers� compensation claims and casualty claims incurred prior to March 1, 2000. Under
the Master Separation and Distribution Agreement entered into in connection with the 100 percent tax-free
distribution of shares to Yellow shareholders, Saia pays Yellow�s actual cost of any collateral it provides to insurance
underwriters in support of these claims at cost plus 125 basis points through October 2009. At December 31, 2008, the
portion of collateral allocated by Yellow to Saia in support of these claims was $1.5 million.

Projected net capital expenditures for 2009 are now approximately $10 million primarily due to an uncertain outlook
for the economy going into 2009. This represents an approximately $16 million decrease from 2008 net capital
expenditures of $26 million for property and equipment. Approximately $6.2 million of the 2009 capital budget was
committed at December 31, 2008, which is primarily made up of expenditures to upgrade leased terminal properties.
Net capital expenditures pertain primarily to investments in information technology, land and structures and
replacement of revenue equipment.

The Company has historically generated cash flows from operations that have funded its capital expenditure
requirements. Cash flows from operations were $82.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, which fully
funded the net cash used in investing activities of $26.0 million. Cash flows from operating activities in 2008 were
$36.1 million higher than the prior year period primarily due to decreased accounts receivable and operating cash
flows from discontinued operations of $11.1 million due to the receipt of funds from the Jevic letter of credit in 2008,
as described below. The timing of capital expenditures can largely be managed around the seasonal working capital
requirements of the Company. The Company made payments of $61.5 million during 2008 towards its outstanding
indebtedness, while borrowing an additional $25 million through the Master Shelf Agreement. The Company believes
it has adequate sources of capital to meet short-term liquidity needs through its cash and cash equivalents of
$27.1 million at December 31, 2008 and availability under its revolving credit facility, subject to the satisfaction of
existing debt covenants. Future operating cash flows are primarily dependent upon the Company�s profitability and its
ability to manage its working capital requirements, primarily accounts receivable, accounts payable and wage and
benefit accruals. Due to the extremely challenging macro-economic conditions, the Company is closely monitoring
compliance with its debt covenants and will evaluate financing alternatives should that be needed.

See �Risk Factors� and �Forward-Looking Statements� for a more complete discussion of potential risks and uncertainties
that could materially affect our future performance or financial condition.

Actual net capital expenditures are summarized in the following table (in millions):

Years Ended
2008 2007 2006

Land and structures:
Additions $ 19.8 $ 42.4 $ 11.8
Sales (0.8) (4.4) (0.4)
Revenue equipment, net 0.6 40.9 72.5
Technology and other 6.4 10.2 6.8

26.0 89.1 90.7
Connection acquisition � � 17.5
Madison Freight acquisition � 2.3 �
Discontinued operations � � (35.9)

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 20



Total $ 26.0 $ 91.4 $ 72.3

In addition to the amounts disclosed in the table above, the Company had an additional $1.0 million in capital
expenditures for revenue equipment that was received but not paid for prior to December 31, 2008.

In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, our operating leases are not recorded in our
consolidated balance sheets; however, the future minimum lease payments are included in the �Contractual Cash
Obligations� table below. See the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual
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report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 for additional information. In addition to the principal
amounts disclosed in the tables below, the Company has interest obligations of approximately $8.4 million for 2009
and decreasing for each year thereafter, based on borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2008.

Contractual Cash Obligations

The following tables set forth a summary of our contractual cash obligations and other commercial commitments as of
December 31, 2008 (in millions):

Payments Due by Year
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Contractual cash obligations:
Long-term debt obligations:
Revolving line of credit(1) $ � $ � $ � $ � $ � $ � $ �
Long-term debt(1) 28.9 17.5 13.6 25.7 22.1 28.6 136.4
Operating leases 14.8 10.4 7.7 5.3 3.7 6.7 48.6
Purchase obligations(2) 8.9 � � � � � 8.9

Total contractual obligations $ 52.6 $ 27.9 $ 21.3 $ 31.0 $ 25.8 $ 35.3 $ 193.9

(1) See Note 4 to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.

(2) Includes commitments of $6.2 million for capital expenditures.

Amount of Commitment Expiration by Year
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Other commercial commitments:
Available line of credit(1) $ � $ � $ � $ � $ 106.0 $ � $ 106.0
Letters of credit 55.5 � � � � � 55.5
Surety bonds 5.7 � � � � � 5.7

Total commercial commitments $ 61.2 $ � $ � $ � $ 106.0 $ � $ 167.2

(1) Subject to the satisfaction of existing debt covenants.

The Company has unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $2.9 million and accrued interest and penalties of
$1.0 million related to the unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2008. The Company cannot reasonably
estimate the timing of cash settlement with respective taxing authorities beyond one year and accordingly has not
included the amounts within the above contractual cash obligation and other commercial commitment tables.
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The Company sold the stock of Jevic Transportation, Inc. (Jevic) on June 30, 2006 and was a guarantor under
indemnity agreements, primarily with certain insurance underwriters with respect to Jevic�s self-insured retention
(SIR) obligation for workers� compensation, bodily injury and property damage and general liability claims against
Jevic arising out of occurrences prior to the transaction date. The SIR obligation was estimated to be approximately
$15.3 million as of the June 30, 2006 transaction date. In connection with the transaction, Jevic provided collateral in
the form of a $15.3 million letter of credit with a third party bank in favor of the Company. The amount of the letter of
credit was reduced to $13.2 million following draws by the Company on the letter of credit to fund the SIR portion of
settlements of claims against Jevic arising prior to the transaction date. Jevic filed bankruptcy in May 2008 and the
Company recorded liabilities for all residual indemnification obligations in claims, insurance and other current
liabilities, based on the current estimates of the indemnification obligations as of June 30, 2008. The income statement
impact of $0.9 million, net of taxes, was reflected as discontinued operations in the second quarter of 2008.

In September 2008, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the bankruptcy estate of Jevic, which was
approved by the bankruptcy court, under which the Company assumed Jevic�s SIR obligation on the workers�
compensation, bodily injury and property damage, and general liability claims arising prior to the
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transaction date in exchange for the draw by the Company of the entire $13.2 million remaining on the Jevic letter of
credit and a payment by the Company to the bankruptcy estate of $750,000. In addition, the settlement agreement
included a mutual release of claims, except for the Company�s responsibility to Jevic for certain outstanding tax
liabilities in the states of New York and New Jersey for the periods prior to the transaction date and for any potential
fraudulent conveyance claims. The income statement impact of the September 2008 settlement of $0.1 million, net of
taxes, was reflected as discontinued operations in the third quarter of 2008 and includes a $0.3 million net reduction in
the liability for unrecognized tax benefits related to Jevic.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Saia makes estimates and assumptions in preparing the consolidated financial statements that affect reported amounts
and disclosures therein. In the opinion of management, the accounting policies that generally have the most significant
impact on the financial position and results of operations of Saia include:

� Claims and Insurance Accruals.  The Company has self-insured retention limits generally ranging from
$250,000 to $2,000,000 per claim for medical, workers� compensation, auto liability, casualty and cargo claims.
For only the policy year March 2003 through February 2004, the Company has an aggregate exposure limited
to an additional $2,000,000 above its $1,000,000 per claim deductible under its auto liability program. The
liabilities associated with the risk retained by the Company are estimated in part based on historical experience,
third-party actuarial analysis, demographics, nature and severity and other assumptions. The liabilities for
self-funded retention are included in claims and insurance reserves based on claims incurred, with liabilities for
unsettled claims and claims incurred but not yet reported being actuarially determined with respect to workers�
compensation claims and with respect to all other liabilities, estimated based on management�s evaluation of the
nature and severity of individual claims and historical experience. However, these estimated accruals could be
significantly affected if the actual costs of the Company differ from these assumptions. A significant number of
these claims typically take several years to develop and even longer to ultimately settle. These estimates tend to
be reasonably accurate over time; however, assumptions regarding severity of claims, medical cost inflation, as
well as specific case facts can create short-term volatility in estimates.

� Revenue Recognition and Related Allowances.  Revenue is recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis for
shipments in transit while expenses are recognized as incurred. In addition, estimates included in the
recognition of revenue and accounts receivable include estimates of shipments in transit and estimates of future
adjustments to revenue and accounts receivable for billing adjustments and collectibility.

Revenue is recognized in a systematic process whereby estimates of shipments in transit are based upon actual
shipments picked up, scheduled day of delivery and current trend in average rates charged to customers. Since the
cycle for pick up and delivery of shipments is generally 1-3 days, typically less than 5 percent of a total month�s
revenue is in transit at the end of any month. Estimates for credit losses and billing adjustments are based upon
historical experience of credit losses, adjustments processed and trends of collections. Billing adjustments are
primarily made for discounts and billing corrections. These estimates are continuously evaluated and updated;
however, changes in economic conditions, pricing arrangements and other factors can significantly impact these
estimates.

� Depreciation and Capitalization of Assets.  Under the Company�s accounting policy for property and
equipment, management establishes appropriate depreciable lives and salvage values for the Company�s
revenue equipment (tractors and trailers) based on their estimated useful lives and estimated fair values to be
received when the equipment is sold or traded in. These estimates are routinely evaluated and updated when
circumstances warrant. However, actual depreciation and salvage values could differ from these assumptions
based on market conditions and other factors.
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� Recovery of Goodwill.  In connection with its acquisition of Clark Bros. in 2004, the Connection in 2006 and
Madison Freight in 2007, the Company allocated purchase price based on independent appraisals of intangible
assets and real property and management�s estimates of valuations of other tangible assets. Annually, the
Company assesses goodwill impairment by applying a fair value based test. This fair value based test involves
assumptions regarding the long-term future performance of the Company, fair value of
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the assets and liabilities of the Company, cost of capital rates and other assumptions. However, actual
recovery of remaining goodwill could differ from these assumptions based on market conditions and other
factors. See Note 6 to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K for
discussion of a 2008 non-cash goodwill impairment charge.

� Equity-based Incentive Compensation.  The Company maintains long-term incentive compensation
arrangements in the form of stock options, cash-based awards and stock-based awards. The criteria for the
cash-based and stock-based awards are total shareholder return versus a peer group of companies over a
three-year performance period. The Company accrues for cash-based award expenses based on performance
criteria from the beginning of the performance period through the reporting date. This results in the potential
for significant adjustments from period to period that cannot be predicted. The Company accounts for
stock-based awards in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123R with the
expense amortized over the three year vesting period based on the fair value using the Monte Carlo method at
the date the stock-based awards are granted. The Company accounts for stock options in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123R with option expense amortized over the three year
vesting period based on the Black-Scholes-Merton fair value at the date the options are granted. See discussion
of adoption of Statement No. 123R in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements contained herein.

These accounting policies, and others, are described in further detail in the notes to our audited consolidated financial
statements included in this Form 10-K.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to adopt accounting policies and make significant judgments and estimates to develop amounts reflected
and disclosed in the financial statements. In many cases, there are alternative policies or estimation techniques that
could be used. We maintain a thorough process to review the application of our accounting policies and to evaluate
the appropriateness of the many estimates that are required to prepare the financial statements. However, even under
optimal circumstances, estimates routinely require adjustment based on changing circumstances and the receipt of new
or better information.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Saia is exposed to a variety of market risks, including the effects of interest rates and fuel prices. The detail of Saia�s
debt structure is more fully described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. To mitigate our risk to
rising fuel prices, Saia Motor Freight has implemented fuel surcharge programs. These programs are well established
within the industry and customer acceptance of fuel surcharges remains high. Since the amount of fuel surcharge is
based on average national diesel fuel prices and is reset weekly, exposure of Saia to fuel price volatility is
significantly reduced.

The following table provides information about Saia third-party financial instruments as of December 31, 2008 with
comparative information for December 31, 2007. The table presents principal cash flows (in millions) and related
weighted average interest rates by contractual maturity dates. The fair value of the fixed rate debt was estimated based
upon the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.

Expected Maturity Date 2008 2007
There- Fair Fair

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 after Total Value Total Value

$ 28.9 $ 17.5 $ 13.6 $ 25.7 $ 22.1 $ 28.6 $ 136.4 $ 132.9 $ 172.8 $ 181.8
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Fixed
rate debt
Average
interest
rate 7.21% 7.38% 7.13% 6.93% 6.98% 6.28% � � � �
Variable
rate debt � � � � � � � � $ 1.4 $ 1.4
Average
interest
rate � � � � � � � � � �
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Saia, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Saia, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders� equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Saia, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, effective January 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Saia, Inc.�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in
Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 5, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  KPMG LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 5, 2009

31

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 29



Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Saia, Inc.:

We have audited Saia, Inc.�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria
established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting as set forth in
Item 9A of Saia, Inc.�s Annual Report of Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Saia, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Saia, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2008, and our report dated March 5, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements.

/s/  KPMG LLP
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Atlanta, Georgia
March 5, 2009
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Saia, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2008 and 2007

December 31 December 31
2008 2007
(In thousands, except

share data)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,061 $ 6,656
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $7,553 and $5,935 in 2008 and 2007 93,691 107,116
Prepaid expenses 8,161 7,316
Income tax receivable � 7,213
Deferred income taxes 21,717 17,062
Other current assets 5,404 6,246

Total current assets 156,034 151,609
Property and Equipment, at cost 615,212 596,357
Less-accumulated depreciation 259,410 227,585

Net property and equipment 355,802 368,772
Goodwill � 35,470
Other Identifiable Intangibles, net 3,051 3,860
Other Noncurrent Assets 865 872

Total assets $ 515,752 $ 560,583

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 46,572 $ 42,732
Wages, vacations and employees� benefits 28,148 32,862
Claims and insurance accruals 29,688 20,085
Accrued liabilities 13,574 18,053
Current portion of long-term debt 28,899 12,793

Total current liabilities 146,881 126,525
Other Liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion 107,500 160,052
Deferred income taxes 50,584 55,961
Claims, insurance and other 27,215 17,393

Total other liabilities 185,299 233,406
Commitments and Contingencies
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Shareholders� Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding � �
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 13,510,709 and
13,448,602 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively 14 13
Additional paid-in-capital 174,079 170,260
Deferred compensation trust, 163,627 and 144,507 shares of common stock at cost
at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively (2,757) (2,584)
Retained earnings 12,236 32,963

Total shareholders� equity 183,572 200,652

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 515,752 $ 560,583

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Saia, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except per share data)

Operating Revenue $ 1,030,421 $ 976,123 $ 874,738
Operating Expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees� benefits 537,857 524,599 473,956
Purchased transportation 78,462 76,123 70,029
Fuel, operating expenses and supplies 279,763 227,198 188,606
Operating taxes and licenses 35,356 34,474 28,853
Claims and insurance 32,860 36,754 28,089
Depreciation and amortization 40,898 38,685 32,550
Operating gains, net (435) (2,305) (1,416)
Restructuring charges � � 2,587
Integration charges � 2,427 1,490
Goodwill impairment charge 35,511 � �

Total operating expenses 1,040,272 937,955 824,744

Operating Income (Loss) (9,851) 38,168 49,994
Nonoperating Expenses (Income):
Interest expense 12,441 10,135 9,288
Interest income (72) (86) (970)
Other, net 491 (272) (297)

Nonoperating expenses, net 12,860 9,777 8,021

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes (22,711) 28,391 41,973
Income Tax Provision (Benefit) (3,022) 11,306 16,100

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations (19,689) 17,085 25,873
Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Loss on operations � � (2,760)
Income (loss) on disposal (1,038) 1,257 (43,794)

Net Income (Loss) $ (20,727) $ 18,342 $ (20,681)

Weighted average common shares outstanding � basic 13,316 13,823 14,536

Weighted average common shares outstanding � diluted 13,316 14,038 14,841

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Continuing Operations $ (1.48) $ 1.24 $ 1.78
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Discontinued Operations (0.08) 0.09 (3.20)

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 34



Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (1.56) $ 1.33 $ (1.42)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Continuing Operations $ (1.48) $ 1.22 $ 1.74
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Discontinued Operations (0.08) 0.09 (3.14)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (1.56) $ 1.31 $ (1.39)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Saia, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders� Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Additional Deferred
Common Paid-in Treasury Compensation Retained

Stock Capital Stock Trust Earnings Total
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 14 $ 194,398 $ � $ (1,322) $ 35,302 $ 228,392
Stock compensation for options � 313 � � � 313
Shares issued for director
compensation � 39 � � � 39
Director deferred shares for
annual deferral elections � 604 � � � 604
Repurchase of shares
outstanding � � (8,861) � � (8,861)
Exercise of stock options,
including tax benefits of $2,373 1 3,825 � � � 3,826
Purchase of shares by Deferred
Compensation Trust � � � (612) � (612)
Sale of shares by Deferred
Compensation Trust � 78 � 57 � 135
Net loss � � � � (20,681) (20,681)

Balance at December 31, 2006 15 199,257 (8,861) (1,877) 14,621 203,155
Stock compensation for options
and long term incentives � 645 � � � 645
Shares issued for director
compensation � 30 � � � 30
Director deferred shares for
annual deferral elections and
correction of classification � 352 � � � 352
Repurchase of shares
outstanding � � (23,226) � � (23,226)
Retirement of shares (2) (32,085) 32,087 � � �
Exercise of stock options,
including tax benefits of $1,084 � 2,048 � � � 2,048
Purchase of shares by Deferred
Compensation Trust � � � (752) � (752)
Sale of shares by Deferred
Compensation Trust � 13 � 45 � 58
Net income � � � � 18,342 18,342

Balance at December 31, 2007 13 170,260 � (2,584) 32,963 200,652
� 1,415 � � � 1,415
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Stock compensation for options
and long term incentives
Director deferred shares for
annual deferral elections and
correction of classification � 349 � � � 349
Exercise of stock options,
including tax benefits of $259 1 588 � � � 589
Reclassification of Deferred
Compensation liability due to
Plan Amendment � 1,516 � � � 1,516
Purchase of shares by Deferred
Compensation Trust � � � (435) � (435)
Sale of shares by Deferred
Compensation Trust � (49) � 262 � 213
Net loss � � � � (20,727) (20,727)

Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 14 $ 174,079 $ � $ (2,757) $ 12,236 $ 183,572

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Saia, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ (20,727) $ 18,342 $ (20,681)
Noncash items included in net income (loss):
Depreciation and amortization 40,898 38,685 32,550
Loss (income) on discontinued operations 1,038 (1,257) 46,554
Provision for doubtful accounts 5,213 4,254 1,815
Deferred income taxes (5,191) (4,424) 1,560
Gain from property disposals, net (435) (2,305) (1,416)
Stock-based compensation 1,764 1,027 641
Goodwill impairment charge 35,511 � �
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net:
Accounts receivable 8,118 (13,906) (4,262)
Accounts payable 3,158 4,177 (2,307)
Other working capital items (8,691) (699) 3,019
Claims, insurance and other 9,822 3,482 (325)
Other, net 808 (1,105) (1,505)
Net investment in discontinued operations 11,053 � 20,494

Net cash provided by operating activities 82,339 46,271 76,137
Investing Activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment (27,808) (95,486) (93,235)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 1,803 6,401 2,487
Acquisition of business, net of cash received � (2,344) (17,496)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary � � 41,305
Net investment in discontinued operations � � (5,359)

Net cash used in investing activities (26,005) (91,429) (72,298)
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt 25,000 73,724 �
Repayment of long-term debt (61,517) (11,402) (5,000)
Proceeds on stock option exercises (including excess tax benefits) 588 2,049 3,826
Repurchase of shares outstanding � (23,226) (8,861)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (35,929) 41,145 (10,035)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 20,405 (4,013) (6,196)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,656 10,669 16,865

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 27,061 $ 6,656 $ 10,669
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Noncash Transactions:
Retire treasury shares $ � $ 32,087 $ �
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Income taxes paid (received), net (2,844) 8,680 2,427
Interest paid 12,641 10,259 10,964

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

36

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 39



Table of Contents

Saia, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

1.  Description of Business and Summary of Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Saia, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Saia or the Company) (formerly SCS Transportation, Inc.), headquartered in Johns Creek,
Georgia, is a leading transportation company providing regional and interregional less than truckload (LTL) services,
selected national LTL and time-definite services across the United States through its wholly owned subsidiary, Saia
Motor Freight Line, LLC (Saia Motor Freight). Saia Motor Freight provides delivery in 34 states across the South,
Southwest, West, Midwest and Pacific Northwest and employs approximately 7,700 employees.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are wholly owned. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated
financial statements. As described in Note 13, on June 30, 2006, the Company completed the sale of the outstanding
common stock of Jevic Transportation, Inc. (Jevic) and accordingly, the financial position and results of operations of
Jevic have been reflected as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The consolidated financial statements
include the financial position and results of operations of The Connection Company (the Connection) since its
acquisition date of November 18, 2006 and Madison Freight Systems, Inc. (Madison Freight) since its acquisition date
of February 1, 2007.

Use of Estimates

Management makes estimates and assumptions when preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements and footnotes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Summary of Accounting Policies

Major accounting policies and practices used in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements
not covered in other notes to the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Cash Equivalents and Checks Outstanding:  Cash equivalents in excess of current operating requirements are invested
in short-term interest bearing instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less and are stated at
cost, which approximates market. Changes in checks outstanding are classified in accounts payable on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and in operating activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of
cash flows.

Inventories: fuel and operating supplies:  Inventories are carried at average cost and included in other current assets.
To mitigate the Company�s risk to rising fuel prices, the Company has implemented fuel surcharge programs and
considered effects of these fuel surcharge programs in customer pricing negotiations. Since the amount of fuel
surcharge billed to customers is based on average national diesel fuel prices and is reset weekly, exposure of Saia to
fuel price volatility is significantly reduced.

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 40



37

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 41



Table of Contents

Property and Equipment Including Repairs and Maintenance:  Property and equipment are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the following service
lives:

Years

Structures 20 to 25
Tractors 8 to 10
Trailers 10 to 14
Other revenue equipment 10 to 14
Technology equipment and software 3 to 5
Other 3 to 10

At December 31, property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

2008 2007

Land $ 53,581 $ 45,236
Structures 110,877 102,855
Tractors 183,499 187,522
Trailers 166,391 168,493
Other revenue equipment 26,011 25,757
Technology equipment and software 33,841 30,940
Other 41,012 35,554

Total property and equipment, at cost $ 615,212 $ 596,357

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations; replacements and improvements that extend the asset�s life are
capitalized. The Company�s investment in technology equipment and software consists primarily of systems to support
customer service and freight management.

Goodwill:  Goodwill is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and identifiable
intangible net assets of businesses acquired. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill is not amortized and is reviewed at least annually
for impairment based on fair value. See Note 6 for discussion of 2008 goodwill impairment charge.

Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use:  The Company capitalizes certain costs associated with
developing or obtaining internal-use software. Capitalizable costs include external direct costs of materials and
services utilized in developing or obtaining the software and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly
associated with the development of the project. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company
capitalized in continuing operations $0.9 million, $1.1 million, and $1.1 million, respectively, of primarily
payroll-related costs.

Claims and Insurance Accruals:  Claims and insurance accruals, both current and long-term, reflect the estimated cost
of claims for workers� compensation (discounted to present value), cargo loss and damage, and bodily injury and
property damage not covered by insurance. These costs are included in claims and insurance expense, except for
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workers� compensation, which is included in employees� benefits expense. The liabilities for self-funded retention are
included in claims and insurance reserves based on claims incurred, with liabilities for unsettled claims and claims
incurred but not yet reported being actuarially determined with respect to workers� compensation claims and with
respect to all other liabilities, estimated based on management�s evaluation of the nature and severity of individual
claims and past experience. The former Parent provides guarantees for claims in certain self-insured states that arose
prior to the Spin-off date (See Note 3).

Risk retention amounts per occurrence during the three years ended December 31, 2008, were as follows:

Workers� compensation $ 1,000,000
Bodily injury and property damage 1,000,000 to 2,000,000
Employee medical and hospitalization 250,000 to 300,000
Cargo loss and damage 250,000
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For the policy year March 2003 through February 2004, the Company has an aggregate exposure limited to an
additional $2,000,000 above its $1,000,000 per claim deductible under its bodily injury and property damage liability
program. The retention increased to $2,000,000 per claim beginning in March 2004. The Company�s insurance
accruals are presented net of amounts receivable from insurance companies that provide coverage above the
Company�s retention.

Income Taxes:  Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. In June
2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes�, which
defines the threshold for recognizing the benefits of tax-filing positions in the financial statements as
�more-likely-than-not� to be sustained by the tax authority. FIN 48 also prescribes a method for computing the tax
benefit of such tax positions to be recognized in the financial statements. In addition, FIN 48 provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The
Company adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007 with no cumulative effect adjustment recorded at adoption.

Revenue Recognition:  Revenue is recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis for shipments in transit while
expenses are recognized as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation:  For all stock option grants prior to January 1, 2003, stock-based compensation to
employees is accounted for based on the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations, including FASB Interpretation No. 44,
Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation. Accordingly, no stock-based compensation
expense related to stock option awards was recorded prior to January 1, 2003 for at-the-money stock option awards.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments
(Statement 123(R)). Statement 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,
and amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) is
similar to the approach described in Statement 123.

The Company adopted Statement 123(R) using the modified prospective method, one of two permitted methods.
Under the �modified prospective� method, compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based
on the requirements of Statement 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on
the requirements of Statement 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Statement 123(R)
that remain unvested on the effective date. Statement 123(R) must be applied not only to new awards but also to
previously granted awards that are not fully vested on the effective date. Since the Company previously adopted
Statement 123 and all options granted prior to the adoption of Statement 123(R) were fully vested on the effective
date, no additional compensation expense was recognized for previously granted awards.

The Company amended its Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan to provide for the payment of
Performance Unit Awards granted on or after January 1, 2007 in shares instead of cash. The new stock-based awards
are accounted for in accordance with Statement No. 123R with the expense amortized over the three-year vesting
period using the Monte Carlo formula to estimate fair value at the date the awards are granted.

Credit Risk:  The Company routinely grants credit to its customers. The risk of significant loss in trade receivables is
substantially mitigated by the Company�s credit evaluation process, short collection terms, low revenue per transaction
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and services performed for a large number of customers with no single customer representing more than 4.0 percent of
consolidated operating revenue. Allowances for potential credit losses are based on historical experience, current
economic environment, expected trends and customer specific factors.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:  In accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and
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purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a
long-lived asset or asset group be tested for possible impairment, the Company first compares undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying value. If the carrying value of the long-lived
asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent
that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques including
discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary.

Advertising:  The costs of advertising are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs charged to expense for continuing
operations were $0.6 million, $1.1 million and $1.0 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Reclassifications:  Certain inconsequential reclassifications have been made to the prior years� consolidated financial
statements to conform with current presentation.

Restructuring Costs

Net restructuring charges totaling $2.6 million were expensed in the year ended December 31, 2006. The restructuring
charges for the year consisted of $2.5 million in employee severance and stay bonuses and $0.3 million in relocation
expenses offset by a $0.2 million reduction in the estimated payout under long-term incentive plans, associated with
the Company�s consolidation and relocation of corporate headquarters to Johns Creek, Georgia. At December 31,
2006, total accrued restructuring costs were $2.4 million. These costs were fully paid by December 31, 2007.

Business Interruption Insurance Recoveries

During 2005, several hurricanes caused property damage to some of Saia�s Gulf Coast and Florida terminals and
disrupted operations, which adversely impacted their operating results. In addition to lost revenue caused by these
storms, service recovery efforts at Saia resulted in significant incremental wage and other operating and administrative
expense primarily in the third and fourth quarters. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded an insurance
recovery of $1.0 million for certain costs attributable to Hurricane Katrina, net of the related deductible. During the
third quarter of 2006, the Company recovered an additional $1.1 million as a result of reaching a settlement with the
insurance company. The insurance recovery was primarily reflected as a reduction of salaries, wages & employee
benefits, operating expenses & supplies and gains & losses on disposal of property.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (Statement 157). Statement 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value
and requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements. Statement 157 requires companies to disclose the
fair value of financial instruments according to a fair value hierarchy. Additionally, companies are required to provide
certain disclosures regarding instruments within the hierarchy, including a reconciliation of the beginning and ending
balances for each major category of assets and liabilities. Statement 157 is effective for the Company�s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2008. The adoption of Statement 157 has not had a material effect on the Company�s
consolidated financial statements. In February 2008, the FASB issued Staff Positions No. 157-1 and No. 157-2 which
partially defer the effective date of Statement 157 for one year for certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities and
remove certain leasing transactions from its scope. The Company will evaluate the manner in which the nonfinancial
items covered by Statement 157 will be adopted.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, Fair Value Options for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (Statement 159), which permits an entity to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other
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items at fair value at specified election dates. Statement 159 is effective for the Company�s fiscal year beginning
January 1, 2008. The adoption of Statement 159 has not had a material effect on the Company�s consolidated financial
statements.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (Statement 141R).
Statement 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial
statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
goodwill acquired. Statement 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and
financial effects of the business combination. Statement 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. The Company will assess the impact of the business combination provisions of Statement 141R
upon the occurrence of a business combination.

Business Segment Information

As a result of the sale of Jevic Transportation, Inc. in June 2006, the subsequent relocation of the corporate
headquarters to Johns Creek, Georgia and the move to a focus on the operations of one company, management has
modified its internal reporting whereby the Company�s chief operating decision maker now evaluates information on a
consolidated basis and as a result, the Company no longer reports separate segment information. Jevic Transportation,
Inc. has been reflected as discontinued operations.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and short-term debt approximated fair value as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, because of the relatively
short maturity of these instruments. See Note 4 for fair value disclosures related to long-term debt.

2.  Acquisitions

The Connection Company

On November 18, 2006, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of The Connection Company (the
Connection), a Midwestern LTL carrier operating in four states with revenue of approximately $70 million in fiscal
year 2005. The Connection was merged and its operations integrated into Saia in February 2007, bringing the benefits
of Saia transportation service to major Midwestern markets including Cincinnati, Cleveland, Columbus, Detroit,
Indianapolis, Louisville and Toledo. The results of operations of the Connection are included in the consolidated
results of the Company since the acquisition date. The total consideration of $16.9 million included $9.9 million for
the purchase of all outstanding equity of the Connection and the repayment of $7.0 million of existing debt of the
Connection. The transaction was financed from cash balances. During 2007, the Company completed the allocation of
the purchase price between goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets related to the November 18, 2006
acquisition of the Connection.

The cash purchase price of the Connection of $16.9 million was allocated based on management�s estimates of the fair
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in part in reliance on independent appraisals as follows (in thousands):

Accounts receivable $ 8,259
Other current assets 552
Property and equipment 11,338
Acquired intangible assets:
Covenants not -to-compete (useful life of 5 years) 644
Customer relationships (useful life of 10 years) 2,900
Goodwill 3,915
Other assets 465

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 48



Current liabilities (8,098)
Long-term liabilities (3,078)

Total allocation of purchase price $ 16,897
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Integration charges totaling $1.5 million were expensed in each of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.
These integration charges consisted of employee retention and stay bonuses, communications, re-logoing the fleet of
the Connection, technology integration and other miscellaneous items.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information reflects the consolidated results of operations of Saia, Inc. as
if the acquisition of the Connection had taken place on January 1, 2006. The pro forma financial information is not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations as it would have been had the transaction been effected on the
assumed date (in thousands, except per share date).

Year Ended
December 31,

2006

Pro forma revenue $ 941,403
Pro forma income from continuing operations 26,672
Pro forma diluted earnings per share � continuing operations 1.80

Madison Freight

On February 1, 2007, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Madison Freight Systems, Inc.
(Madison Freight), an LTL carrier operating in the state of Wisconsin and parts of Illinois and Minnesota. Madison
Freight was merged and its operations integrated into Saia on March 31, 2007. The results of operations of Madison
Freight are included in the consolidated results of the Company since the February 1, 2007 acquisition date. The total
consideration of $2.3 million included $0.9 million for the purchase of all outstanding Madison Freight equity and the
repayment of $1.4 million of existing Madison Freight debt. The transaction was financed from cash balances and
existing revolving credit capacity.

The purchase price of Madison Freight was allocated based on management�s estimates as follows (in thousands):

Goodwill $ 1,032
Acquired net tangible assets 1,312

Total allocation of purchase price $ 2,344

Integration charges from the Madison Freight acquisition totaling $0.9 million were expensed in the year ended
December 31, 2007. These integration charges consisted of employee retention and stay bonuses, training,
communications, fleet re-logoing, technology integration and other related items.

3.  Related-Party Transactions

On September 30, 2002, Yellow Corporation (Yellow or former Parent) completed the spin-off of its 100 percent
interest in the Company to Yellow shareholders (the Spin-off) in a tax-free distribution under Section 355 of the
Internal Revenue Code. Subsequent to the Spin-off the former Parent continues to provide guarantees for certain
pre-Spin-off workers� compensation and casualty claims for which the Company is allocated its pro rata share of letters
of credit and bonds, which the former Parent must maintain for these insurance programs. The former Parent allocated
$1.5 million and $1.6 million of letters of credit and surety bonds at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
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respectively, in connection with the Company�s insurance programs for which the Company pays quarterly the former
Parent�s cost plus 125 basis points through 2009. The former Parent also provided guarantees of approximately
$0.4 million for service facility leases at December 31, 2007.
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4.  Debt and Financing Arrangements

At December 31, debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2008 2007

Credit Agreement with Banks, described below $ � $ 48,724
Senior Notes under a Master Shelf Agreement, described below 125,000 110,000
Subordinated debentures, interest rate of 7.0% semi-annual installment payments
due from 2005 to 2011 11,399 14,121

Total debt 136,399 172,845
Current portion of long-term debt 28,899 12,793

Long-term debt, less current portion $ 107,500 $ 160,052

On September 20, 2002, the Company issued $100 million in Senior Notes under a $125 million (amended to
$150 million in April 2005) Master Shelf Agreement with Prudential Investment Management, Inc. and certain of its
affiliates. The Company issued another $25 million in Senior Notes on November 30, 2007 and $25 million in Senior
Notes on January 31, 2008 under the same Master Shelf Agreement.

The initial $100 million Senior Notes are unsecured and have a fixed interest rate of 7.38 percent. Payments due under
the $100 million Senior Notes were interest only until June 30, 2006 and at that time semi-annual principal payments
began with the final payment due December 2013. The November 2007 issuance of $25 million Senior Notes are
unsecured and have a fixed interest rate of 6.14 percent. The January 2008 issuance of $25 million Senior Notes are
unsecured and have a fixed interest rate of 6.17 percent. Payments due for both recent $25 million issuances will be
interest only until June 30, 2011 and at that time semi-annual principal payments will begin with the final payments
due January 1, 2018. Under the terms of the Senior Notes, the Company must maintain certain financial covenants
including a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent
(EBITDAR), a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, an adjusted leverage ratio and a minimum tangible net worth,
among others.

At December 31, 2007, the Company also had a $110 million Agented Revolving Credit Agreement (the Credit
Agreement) with Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent. The Credit Agreement was unsecured with an interest rate based
on LIBOR or prime at the Company�s option, plus an applicable spread, in certain instances, and had a maturity date of
January 2009. On January 28, 2008, the Company amended and restated the Credit Agreement, increasing it to
$160 million, extending the maturity to January 28, 2013 and adjusting the interest rate schedule. In addition, the
financial covenants were revised to a fixed charge coverage ratio, leverage ratio and adjusted leverage ratio, removing
the minimum tangible net worth test. At December 31, 2008, the Company had no borrowings under the Credit
Agreement and $54.0 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2007, the
Company had $48.7 million of borrowings under the Credit Agreement at an interest rate of 7.25% and $49.2 million
in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement. The available portion of the Credit Agreement may be
used for future capital expenditures, working capital and letter of credit requirements as needed.

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities,
the estimated fair value of total debt at December 31, 2008 and 2007 is $132.9 million and $181.8 million,
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On January 13, 2009 the Company submitted an authorization of redemption to the Bank of New York to redeem the
outstanding issues of 7% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2011 on February 27, 2009. The Bank of New
York has processed the request and the final payment will be due for all outstanding principal and accrued interest. As
a result of this redemption, the liability for the subordinated debentures has been entirely
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reclassified to current portion of long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008. The
principal maturities of long-term debt for the next five years (in thousands) are as follows:

Amount

2009 $ 28,899
2010 17,500
2011 13,571
2012 25,714
2013 22,143
Thereafter through 2018 28,572

Total $ 136,399

5.  Commitments, Contingencies and Uncertainties

The Company leases certain service facilities and equipment. Rent expense from continuing operations was
$15.6 million, $15.1 million and $12.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

At December 31, 2008, the Company was committed under non-cancellable operating lease agreements requiring
minimum annual rentals payable as follows (in thousands):

Amount

2009 $ 14,814
2010 10,457
2011 7,661
2012 5,262
2013 3,685
Thereafter through 2016 6,717

Total $ 48,596

Management expects that in the normal course of business leases will be renewed or replaced as they expire.

Capital expenditures of approximately $6.2 million were committed at December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2008
and 2007, the Company had $1.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of capital expenditures in accounts payable as
non-cash operating activities.

Fuel Surcharge Litigation.  In late July 2007, a lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of California against Saia and several other major LTL freight carriers alleging that the defendants conspired
to fix fuel surcharge rates in violation of federal antitrust laws and seeking injunctive relief, treble damages and
attorneys� fees. Since the filing of the original case, similar cases have been filed against Saia and other LTL freight
carriers, each with the same allegation of conspiracy to fix fuel surcharge rates. The cases were consolidated and
transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, and the plaintiffs in these cases are
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seeking class action certification.

Plaintiffs filed their Amended Consolidated Complaint on May 23, 2008. Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the
following carriers from the Amended Consolidated Complaint without prejudice: R&L Carriers, Inc., New England
Motor Freight, Inc., Southeast Freight Lines, Inc., AAA Cooper Transportation, Jevic Transportation, Inc. (Jevic) and
Sun Capital Partners. Plaintiffs also voluntarily dismissed Southern Motor Carriers Rate Conference, Inc. without
prejudice.

On June 25, 2008, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs� Consolidated Class Action Complaint on the
grounds that it failed to adequately plead collusion and conspiracy. On January 28, 2009, the District Court granted
Defendants� Motion to Dismiss and dismissed Plaintiffs� claims without prejudice. The District Court will give
Plaintiffs leave until March 16, 2009 to amend and re-file their Consolidated Class Action Complaint.
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California Labor Code Litigation.  The Company is a defendant in a lawsuit originally filed in July 2007 in California
state court on behalf of California dock workers alleging various violations of state labor laws. In August 2007, the
case was removed to the United States District Court for the Central District of California. The claims include the
alleged failure of the Company to provide rest and meal breaks and the alleged failure to reimburse the employees for
the cost of work shoes, among other claims. In January 2008, the parties negotiated a conditional class-wide
settlement under which the Company would pay $0.8 million to settle these claims. This pre-certification settlement is
subject to court approval. In March 2008, the District Court denied preliminary approval and the named Plaintiff filed
a petition with the United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit seeking permission to appeal this ruling. The
petition was granted and the appeal is now pending. The proposed settlement is reflected as a liability of $0.8 million
at December 31, 2008 and was recorded as other operating expenses in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Other.  The Company is subject to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of
management, the aggregate liability, if any, with respect to these actions will not have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position but could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations in a quarter or
annual period.

6.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company applies a fair value
based impairment test to the net book value of goodwill on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The analysis of potential impairment of
goodwill requires a two-step process. The first step is the estimation of fair value. The Company uses a projection of
discounted future cash flows based on assumptions that are consistent with the Company�s estimates of future growth
and strategic plan, and also includes a probability-weighted expectation as to future cash flows. Some factors
requiring significant judgment include assumptions related to future growth rates, discount factors and tax rates. If
step one indicates that impairment potentially exists, the second step is performed to measure the amount of
impairment, if any. Goodwill impairment exists when the estimated fair value of goodwill is less than its carrying
value.

On February 20, 2009, the Company completed its annual impairment analysis in connection with the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. Based upon a combination of factors, the Company has experienced a
significant and sustained decline in market capitalization below the Company�s carrying value in the fourth quarter of
2008. Management believes such decline in the Company�s stock price is driven by the deteriorating macro-economic
environment and illiquidity in the overall credit markets. The analysis of the market capitalization plus a control
premium compared to the Company�s carrying value indicated a potential goodwill impairment. Having determined
that the Company�s goodwill was potentially impaired, the Company began performing the second step of the goodwill
impairment analysis which involved calculating the implied fair value of its goodwill by allocating the fair value of
the Company to all of its assets and liabilities other than goodwill (including both recognized and unrecognized
intangible assets) and comparing the residual amount to the carrying value of goodwill. The Company determined that
goodwill was impaired and recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $35.5 million, representing the total
goodwill balance. The impairment charge resulted in an income tax benefit of $6.1 million for the impairment of
tax-deductible goodwill.

The Company reviews other intangible assets, including customer relationships and non-compete covenants, for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of long-lived assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset
group to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by those assets. If such assets are considered
to be impaired, the impairment charge recognized is the amount by which the carrying amounts of the assets exceeds
the fair value of the assets. As a result of the impairment indicators described above, the Company reviewed these
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Goodwill balances and adjustments are as follows (in thousands):

Goodwill

December 31, 2005 $ 30,530
Purchase adjustment (Clark Bros.) 5,876

December 31, 2006 36,406
Goodwill acquired (Note 2) 1,032
Purchase adjustment (Note 2) (1,968)

December 31, 2007 35,470
Purchase adjustment (for income taxes) 41
Goodwill impairment (35,511)

December 31, 2008 $ �

The gross amounts and accumulated amortization of identifiable intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer relationships (useful life of 6-10 years) $ 4,600 $ 1,961 $ 4,600 $ 1,388
Covenants not-to-compete (useful life of 4-6 years) 3,550 3,138 3,550 2,902

$ 8,150 $ 5,099 $ 8,150 $ 4,290

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $0.8 million for 2008, $0.9 million for 2007 and $0.6 million for 2006.
Estimated amortization expense for the five succeeding years follows (in thousands):

Amount

2009 $ 786
2010 425
2011 390
2012 290
2013 290
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7.  Computation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The calculation of basic earnings (loss) per common share and diluted earnings per (loss) common share was as
follows (in thousands except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Numerator:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (19,689) $ 17,085 $ 25,873
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net (1,038) 1,257 (46,554)

Net income (loss) $ (20,727) $ 18,342 $ (20,681)

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per share � weighted average
common shares 13,316 13,823 14,536
Effect of dilutive stock options � 177 279
Effect of other common stock equivalents � 38 26

Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share � adjusted weighted
average common shares 13,316 14,038 14,841

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Continuing Operations $ (1.48) $ 1.24 $ 1.78
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Discontinued Operations (0.08) 0.09 (3.20)

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (1.56) $ 1.33 $ (1.42)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Continuing Operations $ (1.48) $ 1.22 $ 1.74
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share � Discontinued Operations (0.08) 0.09 (3.14)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (1.56) $ 1.31 $ (1.39)

Due to the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008, the 295,844 dilutive shares have no effect on the
calculation of loss per share. As of December 31, 2007, options for 165,770 shares of common stock were excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was anti-dilutive. There were no anti-dilutive
options in 2006.

8.  Shareholders� Equity

Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has 5,000 shares of preferred stock that are designated �Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock� and are reserved for issuance upon exercise of the preferred stock rights under the
rights agreement described below. Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock is nonredeemable and subordinate to
any other series of the Company�s preferred stock, unless otherwise provided for in the terms of the preferred stock;
has a preferential dividend in an amount equal to 10,000 times any dividend declared on each share of common stock;
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has 10,000 votes per share, voting together with the Company�s common stock; and in the event of liquidation, entitles
its holder to receive a preferred liquidation payment equal to the greater of $10,000 or 10,000 times the payment made
per share of common stock. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, none of these shares have been issued.

Preferred Stock Rights

Each issued and outstanding share of common stock has associated with it one right to purchase shares of Saia, Inc.
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, no par value, pursuant to a Rights Agreement dated September 30, 2002
between the Company and Computershare. The Company will issue one right to purchase one one-ten-thousandth
share of its Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock as a dividend on each share of common stock. The rights
initially are attached to and trade with the shares of common stock. Value attributable to these rights, if
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any, is reflected in the market price of the common stock. The rights are not currently exercisable, but could become
exercisable if certain events occur, including the acquisition of 15 percent or more of the outstanding common stock
of the Company by an acquiring person in a non-permitted transaction. Under certain conditions, the rights will entitle
holders, other than an acquirer in a non-permitted transaction, to purchase shares of common stock with a market
value of two times the exercise price of the right. The rights will expire in 2012 unless extended.

Deferred Compensation Trust

On March 6, 2003, the Saia Executive Capital Accumulation Plan (the Capital Accumulation Plan) was amended to
allow for the plan participants to invest in the Company�s common stock. The Plan was further amended in November
2008 to state that any elections to invest in the Company�s common stock are irrevocable and that upon distribution,
the funds invested in the Company�s common stock will be paid out in Company stock rather than cash.

The following table summarizes the shares of the Company�s common stock that were purchased and sold by the
Company�s Rabbi Trust, which holds the investments for the Capital Accumulation Plan:

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Shares of common stock purchased 34,270 40,710 24,260
Aggregate purchase price of shares purchased $ 434,000 $ 752,000 $ 612,000
Shares of common stock sold 15,150 2,450 5,610
Aggregate sale price of shares sold $ 212,000 $ 58,000 $ 135,000

Prior to the November 2008 amendment, the Rabbi Trust shares were recorded by the Company in a manner similar to
treasury stock at cost until either a change in investment election by a plan participant or a participant�s withdrawal
from the Capital Accumulation Plan. Changes in the fair value of the obligations to participants for shares held in the
Rabbi Trust were recorded in net income and $(0.6 million), $(1.2 million) and $0.1 million of (benefit)/expense was
included in the 2008, 2007 and 2006 operating results, respectively.

Since the November 2008 amendment provides for the obligation to be settled only in Company stock, the deferred
compensation obligation is classified as an equity instrument, with no further adjustments based on fair value.

Directors� Deferred Compensation

In December 2003, the Company adopted the Directors� Deferred Fee Plan. Under the Directors� Deferred Fee Plan,
non-employee directors may defer all or a portion of their annual fees and retainers which are otherwise payable in the
Company�s common stock. Such deferrals are converted into units equivalent to the value of the Company�s stock.
Upon the directors� termination, death or disability, accumulated deferrals are distributed in the form of Company
common stock. The Company has 64,501 and 41,092 shares reserved for issuance under the Directors� Deferred Fee
Plan at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The shares reserved for issuance under the Directors� Deferred Fee
Plan are treated as common stock equivalents in computing diluted earnings per share.

Share Repurchase Program

On May 3, 2005, the Company�s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $20 million of the Company�s
common stock.
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During 2006, the Company repurchased 264,600 shares in the open market totaling $7.1 million and completing the
$20 million repurchase program. On November 27, 2006, the Company�s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase
of up to an additional $25 million of the Company�s common stock. During the remainder of 2006, the Company
repurchased 71,800 shares in the open market representing $1.8 million of the total authorized $25 million program.
At December 31, 2006, 336,400 shares of treasury stock were outstanding. Also, $23.2 million remained authorized
under the $25 million repurchase program at December 31, 2006.

During 2007, the Company repurchased 1,187,400 shares in the open market totaling $23.2 million and completing
the $25 million repurchase program.
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As of December 31, 2008, no further share repurchases have been authorized by the Board of Directors.

9.  Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments
(Statement 123(R)). Statement 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,
and amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) is
similar to the approach described in Statement 123.

The Company adopted Statement 123(R) using the modified prospective method, one of two permitted methods.
Under the �modified prospective� method, compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based
on the requirements of Statement 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on
the requirements of Statement 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Statement 123(R)
that remain unvested on the effective date. Although Statement 123(R) must be applied not only to new awards but to
previously granted awards that are not fully vested on the effective date, because the Company previously adopted
Statement 123 and all options granted prior to the adoption of Statement 123 are currently fully vested, there was no
additional compensation costs to be recognized for previously granted awards.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton formula to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to employees
and will continue to use this acceptable option valuation model under Statement 123(R).

Statement 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported
as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow. This requirement reduces net operating cash flows and
increases net financing cash flows. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, cash flows from financing
activities were increased by $0.3 million, $1.1 million and $2.4 million, respectively, for such excess tax deductions
that would have been shown in operating cash flows in periods prior to the adoption of Statement 123(R).

At December 31, 2008, the Company has reserved and remaining outstanding stock option grants for 109,102 shares
of its common stock to certain management personnel of the Company and its operating subsidiaries under the �2002
Substitute Stock Option Plan�. As a result of the Spin-off of the Company from Yellow Corporation, on October 1,
2002, all Yellow stock options (Old Yellow Options) issued and outstanding to employees of the Company were
replaced with Company stock options (New Company Options) with an intrinsic value identical to the value of the
Old Yellow Options being replaced. The number of New Company Options and their exercise price was determined
based on the relationship of the Company stock price immediately after the Spin-off and the Yellow stock price
immediately prior to the Spin-off. The New Company Options expire ten years from the date the Old Yellow Options
were originally issued by Yellow. The New Company Options were fully vested at December 31, 2004.

The shareholders of the Company approved the Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the 2003
Omnibus Plan) to allow the Company the ability to attract and retain outstanding executive, managerial, supervisory
or professional employees and non-employee directors. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had reserved
424,000 shares of its common stock under the 2003 Omnibus Plan. The Plan was amended during 2007 to reserve
another 400,000 shares of common stock for a total of 824,000. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had reserved
824,000 shares of its common stock under the 2003 Omnibus Plan. The 2003 Omnibus Plan provides for the grant or
award of stock options; stock appreciation rights; restricted and unrestricted stock; and cash performance unit awards.
Stock option awards to employees are granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company�s stock
at the date of grant; those stock option awards have cliff vesting at the end of three years of continuous service and
have a seven year contractual term. In addition, the 2003 Omnibus Plan provides for the grant of shares of common
stock to non-employee directors in lieu of at least 50 percent (and up to 100 percent) of annual cash retainers, except
that the Compensation Committee of the Board has discretion to cause the Company to pay entirely in cash the
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of no more than 3,000 shares. These share awards generally vest immediately.
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Shares issued to non-employee directors in lieu of annual cash retainers were 1,870 and 1,030 for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Non-employee directors were also issued 23,228 and 12,120 units
equivalent to shares in the Company�s common stock under the Directors� Deferred Fee Plan during the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The non-employee director stock options issued under the 2003 Omnibus
Plan expire ten years from the date of grant; are exercisable six months after the date of grant; and have an exercise
price equal to the fair market value of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant. At December 31, 2008 and
2007, 409,131 and 562,799 shares, respectively, remain reserved and available under the provisions of the 2003
Omnibus Plan. The Company has a policy of issuing new shares to satisfy stock option exercises or other awards
issued under the 2003 Omnibus Plan and the 2002 Substitute Stock Option Plan.

The years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 had stock option and restricted stock compensation expense of
$0.8 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively, included in salaries, wages and employees� benefits. The
Company recognized a tax benefit consistent with the appropriate tax rates for each of the respective periods. As of
December 31, 2008, there is unrecognized compensation expense of $1.2 million related to unvested stock options and
restricted stock, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.7 years. The Company
recorded actual forfeitures of approximately 29% of the options issued during 2005 and 2006 directly as a result of the
sale of Jevic and has adjusted the stock option compensation expense. The Company does not anticipate any
additional significant forfeitures of unvested stock options.

The following table summarizes the activity of stock options for the year ended December 31, 2008 for both
employees and non-employee directors:

Weighted
Average Aggregate

Weighted Remaining Intrinsic
Average Contractual Value

Options
Exercise

Price
Life

(Years) (000�s)

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 353,569 $ 14.98
Granted 111,220 14.71
Exercised (60,237) 5.46
Forfeited (33,650) 20.39

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 370,902 $ 15.95 5.0 $ 720

Exercisable at December 31, 2008 194,002 $ 11.54 2.3 $ 720

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$0.7 million, $2.8 million and $6.2 million, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options
granted during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $6.45, $10.42 and $8.97, respectively. The
weighted-average grant-date fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
was $7.50, zero and $8.31, respectively.

The following table summarizes the weighted average assumptions used in valuing options for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:
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2008 2007 2006

Risk free interest rate 2.75% 4.87% 4.46%
Expected life in years 5 4 3
Expected volatility 46.49% 45.61% 41.10%
Dividend rate � � �

The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at
the time of grant. The expected life of the options represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the Company�s stock.
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The following table summarizes the status of the Company�s unvested options as of December 31, 2008 and changes
during the year ended December 31, 2008:

Weighted Average

Options
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Unvested at December 31, 2007 121,240 $ 9.48
Granted 111,220 6.45
Vested (44,000) 7.50
Forfeited (11,560) 7.03

Unvested at December 31, 2008 176,900 $ 8.23

In addition to stock options, the Company granted shares of restricted stock to two key executives in February 2008.
These shares of restricted stock will vest 25% after three years, 25% after four years and the remaining 50% after five
years assuming the executive has been in continuous service to the Company since the award date. The value of
restricted stock is based on the fair market value of the Company�s common stock at the date of grant. The following
table summarizes restricted stock activity during the year ended December 31, 2008:

Weighted Average

Shares
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Restricted Stock at December 31, 2007 � $ �
Granted 51,000 14.71
Vested � �
Forfeited � �

Restricted Stock at December 31, 2008 51,000 $ 14.71

10.  Employee Benefits

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company sponsors defined contribution plans. The plans principally consist of contributory 401(k) savings plans
and noncontributory profit sharing plans. The Company�s contributions to the 401(k) savings plans consist of a
matching percentage. The Company match is 50 percent of the first six percent of an eligible employee�s contributions.
The Company has elected to temporarily discontinue the Company match in February 2009. The Company�s total
contributions included in continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, were
$5.3 million, $6.2 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan
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The Saia Executive Capital Accumulation Plan (the Capital Accumulation Plan) is a nonqualified deferred
compensation plan. The plan participants in the Capital Accumulation Plan are certain executives within the
Company. On March 6, 2003, the Capital Accumulation Plan was amended to allow for the plan participants to invest
in the Company�s common stock. In November 2008, the Plan was further amended to state that any elections to invest
in the Company�s common stock are irrevocable and that upon distribution, the funds invested in the Company�s
common stock will be paid out in Company stock rather than cash. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company�s
Rabbi Trust, which holds the investments for the Capital Accumulation Plan, held 163,627 and 144,507 shares of the
Company�s common stock, respectively, all of which were purchased on the open market. The shares held by the
Capital Accumulation Plan are treated similar to treasury shares and deducted from basic shares outstanding for
purposes of calculating basic earnings per share. However, because the distributions are now required to be made in
Company stock, these shares are added back to basic shares outstanding for the purposes of calculating diluted
earnings per share.
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Annual Incentive Awards

The Company provides annual cash performance incentive awards to salaried and clerical employees, which are based
primarily on actual operating results achieved, compared to targeted operating results. Operating results from
continuing operations include performance incentive accruals of zero, zero and $8.5 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Performance incentive awards for a year are primarily paid in the first quarter of the following year.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In January 2003, the Company adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Saia, Inc. (ESPP) allowing all eligible
employees to purchase common stock of the Company at current market prices through payroll deductions of up to
10 percent of annual wages. The custodian uses the funds to purchase the Company�s common stock at current market
prices. The custodian purchased 21,668, 14,649 and 11,130 shares in the open market during 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Performance Unit Awards

Under the 2003 Omnibus Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved performance unit
awards to a group of less than 20 management and executive employees. The performance periods for these awards
are 2004 � 2006, 2005 � 2007, 2006 � 2008, 2007 � 2009 and 2008-2010, three years from the date of issuance of these
awards. The criteria for payout of the awards is based on a comparison over three year periods of the total shareholder
return (TSR) of the Company�s common stock compared to the TSR of the companies in the peer group set forth by the
Compensation Committee. The Company accrues amounts for such payments over the performance period and at each
reporting date adjusts the accrual based upon the performance criteria set forth in the plan through the reporting date.
Operating results from continuing operations include expense/(benefit) for the performance unit awards of
$0.7 million, $(1.7 million) and $2.8 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The performance unit awards will
be paid in the first quarter of the year following the end of the performance period. There will be no payout made for
the 2006 � 2008 Plan year and no payout was made for the 2005 � 2007 Plan year.

The Company amended its Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan to provide for the payment of
Performance Unit Awards granted on or after January 1, 2007 in shares instead of cash. The new stock-based awards
(2007-2009 performance period and all subsequent performance periods) are accounted for in accordance with
Statement No. 123R with the expense amortized over the three year vesting period based on the fair value using the
Monte Carlo method at the date the awards are granted.

11.  Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities
(assets) are comprised of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2008 2007

Depreciation $ 66,232 $ 63,188
Other 3,099 5,575
Revenue 551 1,154

Gross deferred tax liabilities 69,882 69,917
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Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,874) (2,278)
Employee benefits (8,364) (8,703)
Claims and insurance (19,804) (14,272)
Other (9,973) (5,765)

Gross deferred tax assets (41,015) (31,018)

Net deferred tax liability $ 28,867 $ 38,899
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The Company has determined that a valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets was not necessary at
December 31, 2008 since it is more likely than not the deferred tax assets will be realized from future reversals of
temporary differences or future taxable income.

The income tax provision for continuing operations consists of the following (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Current:
U.S. federal $ 439 $ 4,914 $ 12,439
State 1,730 1,071 2,101

Total current income tax provision 2,169 5,985 14,540

Deferred:
U.S. federal (4,288) 4,607 1,418
State (903) 714 142

Total deferred income tax provision (benefit) (5,191) 5,321 1,560

Total income tax provision (benefit) $ (3,022) $ 11,306 $ 16,100

A reconciliation between income taxes at the federal statutory rate (35 percent) and the effective income tax provision
is as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Provision at federal statutory rate $ (7,949) $ 9,937 $ 14,691
State income taxes, net 221 1,160 1,473
Nondeductible business expenses 427 423 489
Impairment of non-deductible goodwill 6,813 � �
Tax credits (3,106) � (772)
Other, net 572 (214) 219

Total provision $ (3,022) $ 11,306 $ 16,100

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, as
of January 1, 2007 with no cumulative effect adjustment recorded at adoption.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state
jurisdictions. For the U.S. federal jurisdiction, tax years 2005-2008 remain open to examination. The expiration of the
statute of limitations related to the various state income tax returns that the Company files varies by state. In general
tax years 2003-2008 remain open to examination by the various state and local jurisdictions. However, a state could
challenge certain tax positions back to the 2000 tax year.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

2008 2007

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year $ 3,287 $ 2,785
Gross increases in tax positions for prior years � 409
Gross decreases in tax positions for prior years (371) �
Gross increases in tax positions for current year � 332
Settlements � �
Lapse of statute of limitations (19) (239)

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $ 2,897 $ 3,287

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax
expense. During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, the Company recorded interest related
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to unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $0.2 million and $0.3 million. The Company had approximately
$1.0 million, $1.2 million and $0.9 million of accrued interest and penalties at December 31, 2008, December 31,
2007 and January 1, 2007, respectively. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the
Company�s effective tax rate if recognized is $2.0 million as of December 31, 2008 and $2.3 million as of
December 31, 2007.

The Company does not anticipate total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change during the next twelve
months due to the settlements of audits and the expiration of statutes of limitations.

12.  Summary of Quarterly Operating Results (unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended, 2008 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Operating revenue $ 249,329 $ 276,050 $ 274,181 $ 230,861
Operating income (loss) 1,982 10,870 7,534 (30,237)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (833) 6,205 2,895 (27,956)
Discontinued operations � (872) (123) (43)
Net income (loss) (833) 5,333 2,772 (27,999)

Basic earnings (loss) per share � Continuing Operations $ (0.06) $ 0.47 $ 0.22 $ (2.09)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share � Continuing Operations$ (0.06) $ 0.46 $ 0.21 $ (2.09)

Basic earnings (loss) per share � Discontinued Operations$ � $ (0.07) $ (0.01) $ (0.01)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share � Discontinued
Operations $ � $ (0.06) $ (0.01) $ (0.01)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (0.06) $ 0.40 $ 0.21 $ (2.10)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.06) $ 0.40 $ 0.20 $ (2.10)

Three Months Ended, 2007 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Operating revenue $ 231,827 $ 252,762 $ 247,823 $ 243,710
Operating income 7,060 14,579 12,653 3,882
Income from continuing operations 3,023 7,404 5,949 716
Discontinued operations � � � 1,257
Net income 3,023 7,404 5,949 1,973

Basic earnings per share � Continuing Operations $ 0.21 $ 0.52 $ 0.44 $ 0.05

Diluted earnings per share � Continuing Operations $ 0.21 $ 0.51 $ 0.43 $ 0.05

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 73



Basic earnings per share � Discontinued Operations $ � $ � $ � $ 0.09

Diluted earnings per share � Discontinued Operations $ � $ � $ � $ 0.09

Basic earnings per share $ 0.21 $ 0.52 $ 0.44 $ 0.15

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.21 $ 0.51 $ 0.43 $ 0.15

13.  Discontinued Operations

On June 30, 2006, the Company completed the sale of all of the outstanding stock of Jevic, its hybrid LTL and TL
trucking carrier business, which was previously a reportable segment. The Board of Directors of the Company
completed an evaluation of strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value. The Board concluded that Jevic, which
had not achieved acceptable levels of profitability for several years, was not core to the long-term direction of the
Company and the sale of Jevic was in the best interests of the Company�s shareholders.
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The sale of Jevic was to a private investment firm in a cash transaction of $42.2 million less a working capital
adjustment of $0.9 million. The Company and Jevic finalized the working capital adjustment in the third quarter of
2006 and in accordance with the terms of the agreement the Company was owed $0.1 million which was received
during the fourth quarter of 2006. Transaction fees and expenses were approximately $1.3 million. In addition, the
transaction was structured as an asset sale for tax purposes under Section 338(h)(10) of the Internal Revenue Code
resulting in an estimated $11.2 million income tax benefit from the transaction. The Company recorded a loss on the
sale of Jevic of $43.8 million or $2.94 per share, net of income tax benefits in 2006.

The Company was a guarantor under indemnity agreements, primarily with certain insurance underwriters with
respect to Jevic�s self-insured retention (SIR) obligation for workers� compensation, bodily injury and property damage
and general liability claims against Jevic arising out of occurrences prior to the transaction date. The SIR obligation
was estimated to be approximately $15.3 million as of the June 30, 2006 transaction date. In connection with the
transaction, Jevic provided collateral in the form of a $15.3 million letter of credit with a third party bank in favor of
the Company. The amount of the letter of credit was reduced to $13.2 million following draws by the Company on the
letter of credit to fund the SIR portion of settlements of claims against Jevic arising prior to the transaction date. Jevic
filed bankruptcy in May 2008 and the Company recorded liabilities for all residual indemnification obligations in
claims, insurance and other current liabilities, based on the current estimates of the indemnification obligations as of
June 30, 2008. The consolidated statement of operations impact of $0.9 million, net of taxes, was reflected as
discontinued operations in the second quarter of 2008.

In September 2008, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the bankruptcy estate of Jevic, which was
approved by the bankruptcy court, under which the Company assumed Jevic�s SIR obligation on the workers�
compensation, bodily injury and property damage, and general liability claims arising prior to the transaction date in
exchange for the draw by the Company of the entire $13.2 million remaining on the Jevic letter of credit and a
payment by the Company to the bankruptcy estate of $750,000. In addition, the settlement agreement included a
mutual release of claims, except for the Company�s responsibility to Jevic for certain outstanding tax liabilities in the
states of New York and New Jersey for the periods prior to the transaction date and for any potential fraudulent
conveyance claims. The consolidated statement of operations impact of the September 2008 settlement of
$0.1 million, net of taxes, was reflected as discontinued operations in the third quarter of 2008 and includes a
$0.3 million net reduction in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits related to Jevic.

The accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented have been presented to
classify Jevic�s operations as discontinued operations. Selected condensed consolidated statement of operations data
for the Company�s discontinued operations is as follows:

Years Ended
2008 2007 2006

Revenue from discontinued operations $ � $ � $ 165,215
Pre-tax income (loss) from discontinued operations � � (4,013)
Pre-tax gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued operations (2,218) � (54,973)
Income tax (provision) benefit 1,180 1,257 12,432

Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ (1,038) $ 1,257 $ (46,554)

The Company did not allocate interest expense to discontinued operations, as no third party borrowings were assumed
by the buyer or retired in connection with the transaction. In addition, the income tax expense (benefit) was allocated
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to discontinued operations by calculating an appropriate effective tax rate for the discontinued operations based on the
permanent differences of Jevic for each of the respective periods. The tax benefit recorded in 2007 is a result of filing
all of the state income tax returns for 2006 allowing the Company to have all of the necessary information to finalize
the amount of tax benefit associated with the loss on the sale of Jevic.
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14.  Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For the Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Additions

Balance,
Charged

to
Charged

to Balance,

Beginning
Costs
and Other Deductions- End of

Description
of

Period Expenses Accounts Describe(1) Period
(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2008:
Deducted from asset account � Allowance for
uncollectible accounts $ 5,935 $ 5,213 $ � $ (3,595) $ 7,553
Year ended December 31, 2007:
Deducted from asset account � Allowance for
uncollectible accounts 3,912 4,254 28(2) (2,259) 5,935
Year ended December 31, 2006:
Deducted from asset account � Allowance for
uncollectible accounts 3,260 1,815 369(2) (1,532) 3,912

(1) Primarily uncollectible accounts written off � net of recoveries.

(2) Reserves acquired with the acquisition of Madison Freight in 2007 and the Connection in 2006.

15.  Subsequent Events

On January 13, 2009, the Company submitted an authorization of redemption to the Bank of New York to redeem the
outstanding issues of 7% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2011 on February 27, 2009. The Bank of New
York has processed the request and the final payment will be due for all outstanding principal and accrued interest. As
a result of this redemption, the liability for the subordinated debentures has been entirely reclassified to current
portion of long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Annual Controls Evaluation and Related CEO and CFO Certifications

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of its �disclosure controls and procedures� (Disclosure Controls). The
controls evaluation was done under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the
Company�s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO).

Based upon the controls evaluation, the Company�s CEO and CFO have concluded that, subject to the limitations noted
below, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company�s Disclosure Controls
were effective to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries is made known to management, including the CEO and CFO, particularly during the period when the
Company�s periodic reports are being prepared.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, there have been no material changes in internal control over financial reporting or
in other factors that could materially affect internal control over financial reporting, including any corrective actions
with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Attached as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report are certifications of the CEO and the CFO, which are
required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act). This Controls
and Procedures section includes the information concerning the controls evaluation referred to in the certifications and
it should be read in conjunction with the certifications. Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting is included in this Form 10-K.

Definition of Disclosure Controls

Disclosure Controls are controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
Company�s reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported timely. Disclosure
Controls are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company�s
management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The
Company�s Disclosure Controls include components of its internal control over financial reporting, which consists of
control processes designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company�s financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

The Company�s management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that its Disclosure Controls or its internal
control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system�s objectives will be met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the
Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.
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Management�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Saia, Inc. and subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

The Company�s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008. In making this assessment the Company�s management used the criteria established in Internal
Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as of December 31, 2008, the Company�s internal
control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The Company�s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit report on the
Company�s internal control over financial reporting, which appears on page 32 of this Form 10-K.

Richard D. O�Dell President and Chief Executive Officer
James A. Darby Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
Stephanie R. Maschmeier Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

58

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 80



Table of Contents

PART III.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers

Information required by this Item 10 will be presented in the Company�s definitive proxy statement for its annual
meeting of shareholders, which will be held on April 23, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference. Information
regarding executive officers of Saia is included above in Part I of this Form 10-K under the caption �Executive Officers�
pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K and General Instruction G (3) of Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding executive compensation will be presented in the Company�s definitive proxy statement for its
annual meeting of shareholders, which will be held on April 23, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder
matters will be presented in the Company�s definitive proxy statement for its annual meeting of shareholders, which
will be held on April 23, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information regarding certain relationships, related party transactions and director independence will be presented in
the Company�s definitive proxy statement for its annual meeting of shareholders, which will be held on April 23, 2009,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding accounting fees and services will be presented in the Company�s definitive proxy statement for
its annual meeting of shareholders, which will be held on April 23, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements required by this item are included in Item 8, �Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data� herein.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The Schedule II � Valuation and Qualifying Accounts information is included in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements contained herein. All other financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not
applicable.

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SAIA, INC.

By: /s/  James A. Darby
James A. Darby
Vice President of Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 5, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/  Richard D. O�Dell

Richard D. O�Dell

President and Chief Executive Officer, Saia,
Inc. 

March 5, 2009

/s/  James A. Darby

James A. Darby

Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial
Officer, Saia, Inc. (Principal Financial Officer)

March 5, 2009

/s/  Stephanie R. Maschmeier

Stephanie R. Maschmeier

Controller, Saia, Inc. (Principal
Accounting Officer)

March 5, 2009

/s/  Herbert A. Trucksess, III

Herbert A. Trucksess, III

Chairman, Saia, Inc. March 5, 2009

/s/  Linda J. French

Linda J. French

Director March 5, 2009

/s/  John J. Holland

John J. Holland

Director March 5, 2009

/s/  William F. Martin, Jr.

William F. Martin, Jr.

Director March 5, 2009
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/s/  James A. Olson

James A. Olson

Director March 5, 2009

/s/  Bjorn E. Olsson

Bjorn E. Olsson

Director March 5, 2009

/s/  Douglas W. Rockel

Douglas W. Rockel

Director March 5, 2009

/s/  Jeffrey C. Ward

Jeffrey C. Ward

Director March 5, 2009
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Saia, Inc., as amended (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on July 29, 2008).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Saia, Inc., as amended (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on July 29, 2008).

4.1 Rights Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services LLC dated as of September 30, 2002
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2002).

10.1 Master Separation and Distribution Agreement between Yellow Corporation and Saia, Inc. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002).

10.2 Tax Indemnification and Allocation Agreement between Yellow Corporation and Saia, Inc.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2002).

10.3 Stock Purchase Agreement among Jevic Holding Corp., Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. and SCS
Transportation, Inc. dated as of June 30, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia,
Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on July 7, 2006).

10.4.1 Restated Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 31, 2005, among SCS
Transportation, Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank National
Association, Harris Trust and Savings Bank, and LaSalle Bank National Association and Bank of
Oklahoma, N.A., as agent for the Banks and related, Guarantee Agreements, Promissory Notes and
Certificate of the Secretary and Officer (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on February 4, 2005).

10.4.2 First Amendment to Restated Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of April 29, 2005, among
SCS Transportation, Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank
National Association, Harris Trust and Savings Bank, and LaSalle Bank National Association and Bank
of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent for the Banks and related Ratifications (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on May 5, 2005).

10.4.3 Second Amendment to Restated Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 30, 2006, among
SCS Transportation, Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank
National Association, Harris Trust and Savings Bank, and LaSalle Bank National Association and Bank
of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent for the Banks and related Ratifications (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on July 7, 2006).

10.4.4 Third Amendment to Restated Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 31, 2007,
among Saia, Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank National
Association, Harris N.A., and LaSalle Bank National Association and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent
for the Banks and related Ratifications (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.4.5 Restated Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 28, 2008, among Saia, Inc. and Bank
of Oklahoma, N.A., U.S. Bank National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., LaSalle Bank
National Association and SunTrust Bank (collectively, the �Banks�) and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as
agent for the Banks and related, Guarantee Agreements, Promissory Notes and Certificate of the
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Secretary and Officer (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on February 1, 2008).

10.5.1 Senior Notes Master Shelf Agreement dated as of September 20, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on October 2, 2002).

10.5.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Senior Notes Master Shelf Agreement dated as of April 21, 2005 and related,
Consent, Cover Page and Schedule 6C(2) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia Inc.�s
Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on April 21, 2005).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

10.5.3 Amendment No. 2 to the Senior Notes Master Shelf Agreement dated as of April 29, 2005 and related,
Consent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983)
filed on May 5, 2005).

10.5.4 Amendment No. 3 to the Senior Notes Master Shelf Agreement dated as of June 30, 2006 and related
Consent and Partial Release of Guaranty (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on July 7, 2006).

10.5.5 Amendment No. 4 to the Senior Notes Master Shelf Agreement dated as of June 30, 2006 and related
Consent and Partial Release of Guaranty (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the quarter ended June 4, 2008).

10.6 Form of Executive Severance Agreement dated as of September 28, 2002 entered into between Saia,
Inc. and certain executive officers (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.7.1 Employment Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Herbert A. Trucksess, III dated as of November 20,
2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for
the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.7.2 Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Herbert A. Trucksess, III dated as of
December 4, 2003 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K (File
No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2003).

10.7.3 Modification of Employment Agreement dated November 20, 2002, as amended, between Saia, Inc.
and Herbert A. Trucksess, III dated as of December 7, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on December 13, 2006).

10.7.4 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and Herbert
A. Trucksess (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.8.1 Employment Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Richard D. O�Dell dated as of October 24, 2006
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on
October 30, 2006).

10.8.2 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and Richard
D. O�Dell (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983)
filed on October 29, 2008).

10.9.1 Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Richard D. O�Dell
dated as of October 24, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K
(File No. 0-49983) filed on October 30, 2006).

10.9.2 Amendment to Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008
between Saia, Inc. and Richard D. O�Dell (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Saia,
Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.10.1 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Anthony D. Albanese dated as
of October 24, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on October 30, 2006).

10.10.2 Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008 between
Saia, Inc. and Anthony D. Albanese (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.11.1 Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement between Saia, Inc. and Anthony D. Albanese
dated as of October 24, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K
(File No. 0-49983) filed on October 30, 2006).
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10.11.2 Amendment to Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008
between Saia, Inc. and Anthony D. Albanese (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Saia,
Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.12 Executive Severance Agreement between Saia, Inc. and James A. Darby dated as of September 1, 2006
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on
September 1, 2006).
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10.13 Amendment to Executive Severance Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and
James A. Darby (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.14 Amendment to Executive Severance Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and
Mark H. Robinson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.15 Amendment to Executive Severance Agreement dated as of October 23, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and
Sally R. Buchholz (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on October 29, 2008).

10.16 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated as of December 7, 2006 entered into by Saia, Inc. and
certain executive officers and directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on December 13, 2006).

10.17.1 Saia, Inc. Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.29 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

10.17.2 Amendment to the Saia, Inc. Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended
December 31, 2007.

10.17.3 Amendment to the Saia, Inc. Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the quarter ended June 30,
2008).

10.18 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement under the SCS Transportation, Inc. 2003 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia Inc.�s Form 8-K (File
No. 0-49983) filed on January 31, 2005).

10.19 Restricted Stock Agreement dated February 1, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and Richard D. O�Dell
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on
February 6, 2008).

10.20 Restricted Stock Agreement dated February 1, 2008 between Saia, Inc. and Anthony D. Albanese
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on
February 6, 2008).

10.21.1 SCS Transportation, Inc. 2002 Substitute Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.21.2 First Amendment to the SCS Transportation, Inc. 2002 Substitute Option Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on July 7, 2006).

10.22 Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the SCS Transportation, Inc.
Amended and Restated 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of Saia Inc.�s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on January 31, 2006).

10.23 SCS Transportation, Inc. Directors� Deferred Fee Plan as adopted December 11, 2003 (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended
December 31, 2003).

14 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14 of Saia, Inc.�s
Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2004).

21 Subsidiaries of Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 21 of Saia, Inc.�s Form 10-K
(File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2007).

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e).

Edgar Filing: EMCORE CORP - Form 8-K

Table of Contents 89



31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e).
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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